
TOWN OF STRATHAM 
 INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
TO: Michael Houghton, Select Board Chair 
 Allison Knab, Select Board Vice Chair 
 Joe Anderson, Select Board 
 
FROM: David Moore, Town Administrator 
 
DATE: April 14, 2023 
 
RE: Select Board Agenda and Materials for the April 17th Regular Meeting 
 
 
Please allow this memorandum to serve as a guide to the Select Board Meeting agenda for 
Monday, April 17, 2023.  
 
III. Consideration of Minutes – April 3, 2023 
 
IV. Finance and Budget Reports (second meeting of the month) 
 
V. Department Reports & Presentations 
 A.  Mark Connors, Town Planner 
 B.  National Library Week 2023 Proclamation  
 
VI. Correspondence 
 A.  3/27/23 Letter from NH Div. of Historical Resources re: consideration of Scammon 
Farm Historic District for nomination to National Register of Historic Places 

B.  4/3/23 Letter from Comcast re: service change 
C.  4/3/23 Letter to SMS School Board re:  election dates 

 
VII. Public Comment 
 
VIII. Public Hearings, Ordinances and/or Resolutions 
 

A. Transfer Station Fees – Revised Fee Schedule 
  

IX. Discussion of Monthly Reports – (second meeting of the Month) 



 
X. New Business and Action Items 

 
A.  Appointing a member designee for CPCNH 

 
 As a signatory to the Joint Powers Agreement for the Community Power Coalition of NH 

(CPCNH), the Select Board needs to appoint a Member Designate to represent it at 
annual Meeting and special meetings of the organizations.  This position is not a Board 
member position.  The Annual Meeting of the CPCNH is April 21st.  I have suggested that 
the Energy Aggregation Committee recommend a designee, which they did at their 
meeting on April 11th.  The EAC discussed the appointments and recognized the Select 
Board may preferred at this early stage in the relationship with CPCNH to appoint a staff 
person.  The EAC recommended Paul Deschaine be named the member designate and 
Charlie Case be named an alternate.  The EAC advised that if the Select Board wanted to 
appoint a staff member that then Mr. Deschaine would be recommend to serve as the 
alternate.   I have included a copy of the role as described in the CPCNH by-laws. 

 
 Recommended action: Appoint a member designee to serve on behalf of Stratham in 

accordance with the by-laws of the Community Power Coalition of NH. 
 

B. Age Friendly Committee Charge and Committee Makeup 
 

With the Town having been awarded an additional Age-Friendly technical assistance 
grant, Town Planner Mark Connors and I are recommending the Board update the 
charge of the Committee and confirm the membership. 
 
Background: In February 2022, the Select Board appointed an Age Friendly Steering 
Committee to work with staff and the Rockingham Planning Commission to do an 
assessment.  As the Board may recall, following the assessment the Committee 
recommended the Town apply for a phase 2 scope of work with additional technical 
assistance from Rockingham Planning Commission.  The Board approved the proposal 
and the submittal of an application.  We were successful in securing the phase 2 award 
and the Committee members previously appointed are willing and interested in working 
on a communications plan for the Town that will particularly focus on the needs of 
seniors.  In addition a new Committee members has been recommended and expressed 
interest in joining the group. 
  
Charge: To develop a Communications Plan for the Town which will promote improved 
public outreach and engagement with residents and members.  The recommendations 
should: 

1. benefit all residents and be particularly focused on engagement with older 
residents  

2. enhance existing outreach methods 



3. should be achievable, realistic and sustainable for the community to implement 
and maintain within existing staffing and budgetary constraints.  

4. aid Town staff and Boards and Commissions in pursuing projects that will benefit 
from more extensive public input and engagement.  

Deliverables: develop a final report (Plan) with recommendations to the Select Board to 
improve communication and may include a standalone product tailored to older 
residents of Stratham to improve public understanding of resources available to older 
residents. 
 
Recommended Action: To adopt draft charge as proposed and reappoint the 
Committee members to include: Tracy-Lynn Abbott, Lucy Cushman, Richard Swett, 
Roberta Febo, and Christopher Zaremba; Mark Connors and Scott Campbell as ex-
officios and Allison Knab (Select Board representative).   

 
D.  Release of Funds from Golf Fundraiser  

 
Please see the attached memorandum from Chief King. 
 
Recommended Action: To approve of the request to expend $5,547 in Stratham First 
Responder Golf Tournament donated funds as matching fund for the NH Highway 
Safety grant match as described in the April 10, 2023 memo from Chief King. 

 
E.   Release of CIP Funds for purchase of Voting Booths 

 
 Please see the attached memorandum from the Town Clerk/Tax Collector 
 
XI. Town Administrator Report 
 
I will present developments associated with open items and other business of the Town.  If any 
Board member has a specific request of an item I cover at the meeting, I welcome hearing from 
you at any time. 
 
XII. Informational Items 

A. COVID Booster Clinic – May 9, 2023 at Stratham Municipal Center 
B. Update on Energy Aggregation Committee - Community Power  
C. Meeting with Carol Gulla, TASC 
On Thursday, April 6th, David Moore, Karen Richard, Seth Hickey, Mark Connors and 
Kerry Cronin met with Executive Director Carol Gulla of Transportation Assistance for 
Seacoast Citizens (TASC).  This meeting was held in the context of following up on the 
many comments we received during the Age-Friendly Community project, phase 1 and 
was intended as informational.  TASC is a public service agency that the Town funds in 
the amount of $3,000 annually.  TASC matches people who need rides with volunteers 
who are willing to drive them.  Last year, they provided 3,500 rides to residents of the 
11 communities (including Stratham) they serve.  477 of those rides were for Stratham 



residents (13%).  There are approximately 45 volunteer drivers; 15 of them are Stratham 
residents (33%).  Five of those 15 are very active volunteers with the program.  People 
who use the service must be at least 55 years old or be an adult with a disability.  There 
is no charge for the service.  The rides may be for any purpose (medical appointments, 
social activities, etc.) 
D.  ESRLAC Executive Summary and email from Nate Merrill 

  
XIII. Reservations, Event Requests & Permits 
 A.  Active Retirement Association requesting use of and fee waiver for the Front Pavilion 
on 9/11/23 (501c3 letter attached) 
 B.  Waypoint requesting use of and fee waiver for the Scamman Pavilion on 6/9/23. 
       (Waypoint is one of the Service Providers that we fund annually.) 
 
XIV. Review of Recent or Upcoming Board & Commissions Agendas 
  
XV.  Boards and Commissions Nominations & Appointments 
 

A.  Appointments for consideration:  
 1.  Rebecca Waltz for consideration for appointment to the Recreation 
Commission 
 2.  Geri Denton for consideration for appointment to the Age Friendly 
Committee 
 
 
B.  Appointments to be voted on:    

1. John (“Jock”) Dyer for appointment to the Trail Management Advisory 
Committee 

2. Kathy Bower and Michele McCann-Corti for appointment as Alternate 
Trustees for the Library Board of Trustees for a term on one year expiring at 
Town Meeting 2024 

 
 

 
XVI. Miscellaneous & Old Business 
 
XVII. Adjournment 



TOWN OF STRATHAM 
 INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

 
 

The Select Board reserves the right to take up business in any order deemed appropriate by the Chair.  A motion to 
enter Non-Public Session in accordance with RSA 91-A:3 may occur at any time during the meeting.  Submission of 
items to be placed on the Agenda must be to the Town Administrator by 4 pm the Wednesday before the scheduled 
meeting. 

SELECT BOARD AGENDA 
April 17, 2023 

7:00 P.M. Public  
Hutton Room, Stratham Municipal Center 

10 Bunker Hill Avenue, Stratham, NH 03885 
 
This meeting of the Select Board will be held in the Hutton Room of the Stratham Municipal 
Center 
 
The public may access this meeting at the date and time above using this conference call 
information.  Please dial the conference number (877) 205-7349 and input 2254 when 
prompted for a user pin/code.  If at any time during the meeting you have difficulty hearing the 
proceedings, please e-mail dmoore@strathamnh.gov. 
 
To access materials related to this meeting, please see this link:  
https://www.strathamnh.gov/select-board 

 

I. Call to order 
 
II. Roll Call 
 
III. Consideration of Minutes – April 3, 2023 
 
IV. Finance and Budget Reports (second meeting of the month) 
 A.  Financial Status Report 
 B.  March Budget and Revenue Reports 
  
V. Department Reports & Presentations 
 A.  Mark Connors, Town Planner 
 B.  National Library Week 2023 Proclamation  
 
VI. Correspondence 

A.  3/27/23 Letter from NH Div. of Historical Resources re: consideration of Scammon 
Farm Historic District for nomination to National Register of Historic Places 

 B.  4/3/23 Letter from Comcast re: service change 
 C.  4/3/23 Letter to SMS School Board re:  election dates 
  

https://www.strathamnh.gov/select-board


TOWN OF STRATHAM 
INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

 
 

 
VII. Public Comment 
 
VIII. Public Hearings, Ordinances and/or Resolutions 
  

A.  Public Hearing - Transfer Station Fees – Proposed Revisions 
 
IX. Discussion of Monthly Reports – (second meeting of the Month)  
 
X. New Business and Action Items 

A.  Appointing a member designee for CPCNH 
B.  Age Friendly Committee Charge and Committee Makeup 
D. Release of Funds from Golf Fundraiser  
E.  Release of CIP Funds for purchase of Voting Booths 

 
XI. Town Administrator Report 
 
XII. Informational Items 

A. May 9th – COVID Booster Clinic at the Municipal Center – DHHS-sponsored 
B. Update on Energy Aggregation Committee – Community Power 
C. Meeting with Carol Gulla, TASC 
D. ESRLAC Executive Summary and email from Nate Merrill 

 
XIII. Reservations, Event Requests & Permits 

A.  Active Retirement Association requesting use of and fee waiver for the Front Pavilion 
on 9/11/23 

 B.  Waypoint requesting use of and fee waiver for the Scamman Pavilion on 6/9/23  
 

XIV. Review of Recent or Upcoming Board & Commissions Agendas 
 
XV.  Boards and Commissions Nominations & Appointments 
 

A.  Appointments for consideration:   
 1.  Rebecca Waltz for consideration to the Recreation Commission 
 2.  Geri Denton for consideration to the Age Friendly Committee 
 
B.  Appointments to be voted on:      

1.  John (“Jock”) Dyer for appointment to the Trail Management Advisory 
Committee 



TOWN OF STRATHAM 
INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

 
 

2. Kathy Bower and Michele McCann-Corti for appointment as Alternate 
Trustees for the Library Board of Trustees for a term on one year expiring at 
Town Meeting 2024 

 
XVI. Miscellaneous & Old Business 
 
XVII. Adjournment 



MINUTES OF THE APRIL 3, 2023 SELECT BOARD MEETING 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Board Members Chair Mike Houghton, Vice Chair Allison Knab, Joe 
Anderson  
 
ALSO PRESENT:  Town Administrator David Moore, Finance Administrator Christiane 
McAllister, Parks & Recreation Director Seth Hickey, Police Chief Anthony King, Fire Chief 
Jeff Denton, Town Clerk/Tax Collector Deborah Bakie, Lamprey Regional Cooperative Chair 
(and Stratham representative) Paul Deschaine 
 
At 6:00 p.m. Mr. Houghton opened the meeting and moved to enter into non-public session. The 
motion was seconded by Ms. Knab.  A roll call vote was taken and all voted in favor. 
 
At 7:00 p.m. the Select Board Chair moved to seal the minutes noting that failure to do so would 
render the propose action ineffective.  Mr. Anderson seconded the motion. All voted in favor 
 
At 7:00 pm Mr. Houghton opened the regular meeting and requested motions on the March 24th 
minutes.  Ms. Knab had submitted a couple of minor corrections earlier.  Ms. McAllister and Mr. 
Anderson also had corrections.  Ms. Knab motioned to approve the March 24, 2023 minutes as 
amended.  Mr. Anderson seconded the motioned.  All voted in favor.  
 
Mr. Houghton recognized Paul Deschaine, Stratham’s representative (and Chair) to the Lamprey 
Regional Cooperative Solid Waste District.  Waste Management approached the Cooperative 
about adjusting the financial aspects of the contract for disposal services.  This led to a 
discussion about an extension of the contract.  After negotiation, two outcomes were determined:   
1.  To extend the contract to 2033, as the current one expires in 2026.  2.  Attempt to make the 
disposal rates fixed for the interim period 6/1/23 – 1/1/2033.  Mr. Deschaine recommended the 
Board sign the Joinder Agreement which acknowledges this is an amendment to the agreement 
and they agree.  He noted that although the fees are locked in, it is unlikely they will ever go 
down.  Mr. Anderson motioned to authorize the Town Administrator to sign the Lamprey 
Regional Cooperative Joinder of Participating Community to Waste Disposal Agreement as 
presented in the March 22 letter from Mr. Deschaine.  Ms. Knab seconded the motion.  All voted 
in favor.   
 
Tangentially, Mr. Deschaine informed the group that, as part of permitting requirements of the 
landfill, routine monitoring and maintenance must be done.  Last year’s maintenance discovered 
water was being retained.  It has been remedied.  The annual walk through is tomorrow.  
Although measures have been taken to make it as waterproof as possible, seepage might still 
occur.  They are still negotiating with the City of Somersworth to renew the lease of the property 
on which sits a portion of the closed landfill.  He explained the monitoring that is done to 
maintain compliance with the permits. 
 
Mr. Houghton recognized Chief Denton for his department report.  Chief Denton stated he’d like 
to move forward with executing the contract for the replacement of Engine 1 as approved by the 
voters at Town Meeting.  The price is locked in at $871,024 until June.  Town Counsel has 
reviewed the contract and there are some items to follow-up on.  Payment will be due upon 



Select Board Meeting April 3, 2023 Page 2 of 5 

delivery.  They discussed who the appropriate person is to sign the contract.  Funding from three 
sources will be used to pay for the fire truck.  All will be deposited into the General Fund to 
support this purchase.  The Board took action on this item later in the meeting. 
 
Next, Chief Denton stated he’d like to move forward with the Fire Inspector position.  He is 
working on the job description and posting.  This position has been approved for 16 hours a 
week, with a flexible schedule.  The successful candidate will be tasked with laying the 
groundwork for the inspection program.  The position will be posted through multiple channels.  
Mr. Anderson, as Select Board representative to the Fire Dept, volunteered his involvement in 
the process.  The new inspector will need a computer and a vehicle.  Until something suitable 
can be found, either the town vehicle or the utility truck will be used.  The pay rate will be 
$25/hour.  They discussed the pay as compared to other towns.  Ms. Knab motioned to authorize 
Chief Denton to move forward with posting the Fire Inspector position for 16 hours a week at a 
salary not to exceed $30/hour.  Mr. Anderson seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
Chief Denton reported that the Recruiting and Retention Committee is off to a strong start.  
Before moving ahead with some of their ideas, he would like to implement an onboarding 
process for new members.  It would be a three phase program which would provide more 
predictability for training and clarity on how to move through the ranks.  Once that is complete, 
they will work on events to attract new recruits and retain the current members.  A key factor in 
retention and recruitment will be examining our compensation model to be competitive with 
other towns.  In order to promote succession planning, Chief Denton is hoping to offer leadership 
training to officers.   
 
Prompted by an inquiry from Ms. Knab, discussion about the disposal of the current fire truck 
ensued.  The vendor from whom we are buying the new engine is seeking to enter into a contract 
with us in which we will trade in the current engine for a price of $15,000.   
 
Mr. Houghton recognized Seth Hickey to discuss the Jack Rabbit Lane Parking Ordinance.  In 
2021 this process began with TMAC doing a year-long evaluation of the Jack Rabbit Lane area.  
Two issues were identified:  Parking and issues with dogs (people not adhering to town 
ordinances).  A 120 day trial period was completed in 2022 which resulted in TMAC 
recommending an ordinance be adopted to make the changes enforceable.  The Conservation 
Commission, Stratham Hill Park Association and Police Department were consulted with and 
support the recommendation.  Ms. Knab stated her opposition to the $50 fine.   
 
Mr. Houghton motioned to open the public hearing to discuss parking at the Jack Rabbit Lane 
and the Jack Rabbit parking area.  Mr. Anderson seconded the motion.  All voted in favor.  Mr. 
Houghton called for comments from the public.  Hearing none, he motioned to close the public 
hearing.  Mr. Anderson seconded the motion.  All voted in favor.  Ms. Knab believes the 
objective is to motivate people to change their behavior as opposed to being punitive.  She 
suggested it be reduced to $25 in alignment with other parking regulations.  Chief King said the 
lower fine will not deter people from parking there.  The Board decided to have the fines 
increase per incident for repeat offenders.  Chief King would like to have a future discussion 
regarding revising or abolishing some of the other parking ordinances in town.  Chief King noted 
that the Police Dept. does not accept cash; only checks or money orders.  They do not have a 



Select Board Meeting April 3, 2023 Page 3 of 5 

device to accept credit cards.  Mr. Houghton motioned to adopt the parking on Jack Rabbit Lane 
and the Jack Rabbit Parking Lot Ordinance with an amendment to include a $25 penalty for the 
first offense and a $50 penalty for the second and subsequent offense within the same season.  
Ms. Knab seconded the motion.  All voted in favor.    
 
Mr. Houghton moved the conversation to the upcoming Food Truck Festival.  Mr. Hickey 
reported that the Old Salt has proposed to the Exeter Chamber and the Parks and Recreation 
Department that they come in as a sponsor and would take full responsibility regarding the liquor 
license and any liability associated with that.  Mr. Houghton wants Town Counsel to review the 
agreement to ensure the town is not carrying any liability.  They discussed the 2019 event.  Chief 
King has no concerns and will provide extra coverage that day. 
 
Mr. Houghton directed attention back to Chief King regarding his purchase of a cruiser.  A 
memo outlining the three funding sources to purchase and outfit the cruiser had been submitted 
by Chief King.  The old vehicle will become the new Animal Control Officer’s vehicle.  Mr. 
Anderson observed that he is expanding the fleet.  Mr. Houghton motioned to release a total of 
up to $33,000 from of the Town’s CIP funds for the purchase of the 2023 replacement cruiser, 
with the remaining funding to be provided through Police Detail fund as described in the Chief’s 
memo of March 22, 2023.  Mr. Anderson seconded the motion.  All voted in favor.  Mr. 
Anderson motioned to expend of the Radio Communications Equipment Capital Reserve fund, to 
approve the release of up to $5,100 as requested in in the Chief’s memo of March 22, 2023.  Ms. 
Knab seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
Mr. Moore reaffirmed that the Chief will move forward with implementing the Animal Control 
program and begin the search to hire a part-time employee for that purpose.  The Board has 
previously reviewed the policy and job description associated therewith.   
 
At 7:54pm Mr. Houghton motioned to enter into a non-public session to discuss a matter which, 
if discussed in public, would likely affect adversely the reputation of another, in accordance with 
RSA 91-A:3, II(c) .  Ms. Knab seconded the motion.  Roll call:  Houghton-yes; Knab-yes; 
Anderson-yes       
 
At 9:00 p.m.  Mr. Houghton motioned to seal the minutes noting failure to do so may render the 
proposed action ineffective.  Mr. Anderson seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
The Board then moved to the Town Planner’s memorandum concerning the parcel off of 
Stratham Height’s Road recommended for acquisition by the Conservation Commission.  
Following a brief discussion, Ms. Knab moved to approve of the purchase of a parcel of land 
identified in the Stratham Tax Maps as Map 3, Lot 12, owned by the Pace Revocable Trust of 
2019, subject to the following condition that the Town shall conduct its due diligence, including 
a title search, prior to the sale.  If any issues are identified which may materially impact this 
acquisition, this matter shall not proceed and return to the Select Board for additional 
consideration.  Mr. Anderson seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
The Board moved to action items on the agenda.  The Board Chair noted and thanked the 
Treasurer for being in attendance prior to the non-public.  Mr. Moore passed on comments from 



Select Board Meeting April 3, 2023 Page 4 of 5 

the Treasurer at her request including that she was highly supportive and appreciative of the 
Finance Administrator for all of her work on the bank transition and that they went through a 
period of needing to reconcile 40 to 50 accounts during the transition and it was a great 
challenge.  She shared that she herself is nearly caught up on the reconciliations to date.  Further, 
she added that she believes Ms. McAllister may need additional assistance so she can continue 
with her great work. 
 
The Chair then moved to consideration of the proposed 2023 investment policy and Ms. 
McAllister summarized the policy.  Mr. Anderson moved to adopt the proposed policy as the 
Town’s investment policy for the year 2023.  Ms. Knab seconded the motion.  All voted in favor.   
 
The Chair then moved to the policy on reconciliation procedures is also enclosed.  It also has 
been a collaborative work of our Finance Administrator and Town Treasurer and developed in 
accordance with guidance for carrying out internal controls and other recommended best 
practices. 
 
Mr. Anderson moved to adopt the proposed policy on reconciliation procedures.  Ms. Knab 
seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
The Board then moved to the formal release of funds for the Engine #1 Replacement Purchase. 
 
Mr. Moore summarized that in its role as agents to expend from the Fire Department Capital 
Reserve Fund, the Select Board must vote to expend funds for eligible purposes.  In addition, to 
approving the release of funds the Fire Chief is requesting the authority to execute an agreement 
for the purchase and the sale of the existing vehicle. 
 
The 2023 Town Meeting authorized the gross appropriation of $950,000 with $250,000 
authorized from the Special Revenue Fund; the use of $80,000 from the Fire Department Fair 
Trust; and $620,000 coming from the Fire Department Capital Reserve Fund.  The final cost of 
the vehicle (in contract is executed prior to June 2023) is $871,024.00. 
 
A copy of the proposed contract was included in the Board’s packet, which has been reviewed by 
Counsel along with an addendum reflecting the sale of the current vehicle.   
 
Ms. Knab moved to authorize the Fire Chief to enter into a contract for the purchase of the Fire 
Truck as presented following review of the contract by the Town Administration (Legal and 
Finance Office review coordinated by the Town Administrator).  Mr. Anderson seconded the 
motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
Ms. Knab moved to authorize the Fire Chief to enter into an agreement to sell the current E-1 to 
the firm providing the engine replacement.  Mr. Anderson seconded the motion.  All voted in 
favor. 
 
Mr. Anderson moved to release funds totaling $541,024 ($871,024 - $250,000 in EMS SRF 
funding - $80,000 in SVFD Fair Trust Funds) from the Fire Department Capital Reserve fund for 



Select Board Meeting April 3, 2023 Page 5 of 5 

the purchase of a replacement Engine 1 from Greenwood Emergency Vehicles, LLC.  Ms. Knab 
seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
Mr. Moore briefly reviewed the informational items.  He noted that he made contact with the 
State of NH regarding the free COVID clinics who advised that while Stratham has high rates of 
vaccination, many are still needing reminding about boosters.  Mr. Moore said he planned to 
follow-up to invite the location of a free one-day clinic at the municipal center in accordance 
with the DHHS offer. 
 
Mr. Moore drafted a letter to the Stratham Memorial School Board for the Select Board Chair to 
sign regarding a request to use Stratham Memorial School for the 2024 election dates and ask to 
hold the presidential primary, as yet unscheduled, at SMS as well.  The Board was supportive.   
 
Mr. Moore advised he would bring back to their next meeting some clarification about the charge 
and membership of the phase 2 of the Age Friendly Communities work which has begun.   
 
APPOINTMENTS 
Ms. Knab motioned to consider John “Jock” Dyer for nomination to the Trail Management 
Advisory Committee.  Mr. Houghton seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
Ms. Knab motioned to re-appoint Bob Keating to the Conservation Commission for a three year 
term to expire in 2026.  Mr. Anderson seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
Mr. Anderson motioned to appoint Tracy Abbott as Town Treasurer for a three year term ending 
in 2026 at a $6,500 annual stipend.  Ms. Knab seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
At 9:30 pm Mr. Anderson motioned to adjourn.  Mr. Houghton seconded the motion.  All voted 
in favor. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Karen Richard 
Recording Secretary 



Fund
Re-

stricted
Authority 

to expend
Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Total YTD FY 23

Remaining 

Balance

% 

YTD 

Taxes 175,820.93         92,128.13            107,712.05        375,661.11     

100 No SB General Fund Revenue 227,720.12         291,576.69          244,465.15        763,761.96     3,700,000.00   2,936,238  21%

  Expenditures 955,465.11         517,739.52          536,956.82        2,010,161.45 8,211,188.00   6,201,027  24%

Net (551,924.06)       (134,034.70)        (184,779.62)      

Bank 1  Reconciled Balance Cash 13,023,612.02   10,969,286.12    8,948,197.95     

Bank 2  Reconciled Balance Electronic 157,092.35         134,892.56          141,010.79        

Total 13,180,704.37   11,104,178.68   9,089,208.74    

Treasurer's Reconciled Balance Cash 

Electronic 

SB NHPDIP Investment 21,574.52           21,651.54            21,738.46          

CRF SB Employee Termination Trust Investment 103,285.64         64,332.32            64,482.59          

CRF SB Highway Vehicle CRF Investment 486,338.92         488,093.75          489,233.85        

CRF SB SVFD CRF Investment 616,422.13         558,310.83          559,614.94        

CRF SB Town Buildings & Grounds CRF Investment 325,909.82         327,085.78          327,849.79        

CRF SB Radio Communications Equip CRF Investment 51,957.70           52,145.18            52,266.98          

Trust Yes CC Land Conservation Trust Investment 985,823.51         989,380.60          991,691.61        

subtotal CRF/Trusts 2,569,737.72     2,479,348.46      2,485,139.76    

Aggregate Total  Funds Available 15,772,016.61   13,605,178.68    11,596,086.96  
  

404 Yes Rec Com Recreation Revolving Fund Revenue 2,499.58             14,115.00            16,614.58       

Expenditures 2,157.50             11,860.22            14,017.72       

Net 342.08                2,254.78              

Bank 3 Reconciled Balance Cash 292,409.74         297,671.74          422,893.44        

Treasurer's Reconciled Balance

NHPDIP Investment 4,259.19             4,275.33              4,307.81            

102 Yes SB EMS Special Revenue Fund Revenue 13,794.95           11,136.31            13,119.79          38,051.05       

Expenditures 620.44                1,183.02              326.68               2,130.14         

Net 13,174.51           9,953.29              12,793.11          

Bank 4 Reconciled Balance Cash 629,493.45         754,124.94         649,921.30        

Treasurer's Reconciled Balance

NHPDIP Investment 52,339.71           52,725.66            52,937.32          

900 Yes SB FIDUCIARY FUND Revenue

Bank 5 Expenditures

Net
Bank 5 Reconciled Balance Cash ** 501,389.75         511,936.81          502,008.19        ** ** 

Treasurer's Reconciled Balance 502,008.19        

103 Yes SB Police Detail Revolving Fund Revenue 17,493.66           9,484.16              26,977.82       

sub account Bank 5 Expenditures 14,353.55          14,353.55       

Net

PD Detail  Reconciled Balance Cash 104,223.73         113,707.89          102,540.90        

Treasurer's Reconciled Balance

Town of Stratham         Financial Summary  Report



Fund
Re-

stricted
Authority 

to expend
Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Total YTD FY 23

Remaining 

Balance

% 

YTD 

105 Yes SB Stratham Hill Park Revolving Revenue -                       300.00                 300.00            

sub account Bank 5 Expenditures -                       

Net -                       300.00                 

SHP Reconciled Balance Cash 50,875.43           51,142.40            51,627.56          

Treasurer's Reconciled Balance

109 Yes H Com Heritage Fund Revenue -                       -                        

sub account Bank 5 Expenditures -                       -                        

Net -                       -                        

Heritage Reconciled Balance Cash 7,052.37             7,068.58              7,119.77            

Treasurer's Reconciled Balance

Exp Trust Yes Heritage Preservation Trust Fund Investment 207,992.80         208,743.29          209230.88

112 Yes SB/PD Stratham Dare Revenue

sub account Bank 5 Expenditures

Net

Stratham Dare Reconciled Balance Cash 6,307.46             6,321.96              6,335.55            

Treasurer's Reconciled Balance

300 Cemetery Land Fund Revenue

sub account Bank 5 Expenditures

Net

Cemetery Land  Reconciled Balance Cash 9,245.04             9,266.29              9,286.21            

Treasurer's Reconciled Balance

SUBTOTAL 900 TOWN FUNDS * 177,704.03        187,507.12         176,909.99       * *

 Sub Accounts - Long Term/Asset

Green Solar Surety Cash 4,440.36             4,450.57              4,460.14            

Varsity Wireless Historic Sign Cash 7,357.18             7,374.09              7,389.94            

Bunker Hill Ave Improvements Cash 17,349.17           17,389.04            17,426.43          

Bunker hill Commons Fire Cistern Cash 8,087.74             8,106.33              8,123.76            

Mobil Cistern Cash 34,097.83           34,176.20            34,249.69          

Tansy Ave Cash 7,145.88             7,162.31              7,177.71            

Winterberry Cistern Cash 949.29                951.47                 953.52               

Fire Protection Fund Cash 47,700.52           47,810.15            47,912.95          

subtotal asset 127,127.97         127,420.16          127,694.14        

Sub Accounts - Rental Escrow

Foss property Cash 3,690.72             3,699.20              3,707.16            

Gifford House Cash 2,131.67             2,136.57              2,141.16            

Park Cottage Cash 976.08                978.32                 980.43               

subtotal escrow 6,798.47             6,814.09              6,828.75            



Fund
Re-

stricted
Authority 

to expend
Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Total YTD FY 23

Remaining 

Balance

% 

YTD 

Sub Accounts - Performance Bond

Altid Enterprises (2011) Cash 11,289.79           11,315.74            11,340.07          

Kennebunk Savings Landscape Cash 1,025.76             1,028.12              1,030.33            

Kennebunk Savings  Maintenance Cash 2,564.39             2,570.29              2,575.82            

200 Domain Drive Landscape Cash 2,571.06             2,576.97              2,582.51            

Lindt Offsite Improvements Cash 1,271.02             1,273.94              1,276.68            

NHSPCA (2004) Cash 28.96                   29.03                    -                      

Robie Farms-renamed Treat Farms Cash 112,539.21         112,797.87          113,040.41        

GCNE (2004) Cash 35,567.20           35,648.95            35,725.60          

Jotaph Realty (2005) Cash 22,901.89           22,954.53            23,003.89          

subtotal performance bonds 189,759.28         190,195.44          190,575.31        

SUBTOTAL other subaccount Bank 5 * 323,685.72        324,429.69         325,098.20       * * 

AGGREGATE CASH TOTAL 14,603,997.31   12,667,912.17    10,664,031.67  

AGGREGATE INVESTED TOTAL 2,855,903.94     2,766,744.28      2,773,354.23    

TOTAL FUNDS AVAILABLE 17,459,901.25   15,434,656.45    13,437,385.90  

Trust Cemetery Trust  612,945.23         621,341.38          624,601.59        

1987 Mary & Walter Smyk Park Trust 336,773.93        341,998.45          344,027.12        

1989 Scamman Park Trust 1,454.93             1,471.88              1,478.47            

1932-1977 Stratham Hill Park 75,144.19           75,846.04           76,118.56          

1966 Stratham Hill Park Association 130,820.51         132,284.63         132,853.14        

2017 350th Anniversary Trust 3,709.38             3,722.77              3,731.48            

2012 Stratham Fair Capital Improvements 20,625.68           20,700.11            20,748.47          

2012 Stratham Fair Operating 62,593.16           62,819.02            62,965.75          

2012 Stratham Fair Rainy Day Fund 15,378.69           15,434.18            15,470.24          

2012 SVFD Fair Trust 108,633.66         109,025.64          109,280.30        

2012 SVFD J Hutton Fund 10,538.79           10,576.82            10,601.52          

2012 SVFD R Wiggin Fund 11,870.68           11,913.51            11,941.34          

2012 SVFD C Scamman Fund 6,414.00             6,437.14              6,452.18            

TOTAL 1,396,902.83      1,413,571.57       1,420,270.16     

Notes: Jan Police Detail Fund expense reflects

a 2021 expenditure paid from Gen Fund

Notes: Feb 1/2 of Feb Gen Fund  cash reflects TC/TC

 deposited into EMS bank acct in error



Town of StrathamRun: 4/10/2023 at 1:53 PM
For  3/31/2023

Page:    1

Dept
Budget

2023
MTD

Actual

YTD
Actual
2023 Balance

%
Expended

GENERAL GOVERNMENT
EXECUTIVE
Select Board
100 4130 01 101 Select Board Stipends 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 12,000.00 0.00

Administration
100 4130 02 102 Town Administration Payroll 179,410.00 13,206.46 39,729.56 139,680.44 22.14
100 4130 02 201 Supplies 4,500.00 318.08 750.83 3,749.17 16.69
100 4130 02 204 Association Dues 9,500.00 0.00 8,870.00 630.00 93.37
100 4130 02 208 Contracted services 1,500.00 0.00 0.00 1,500.00 0.00
100 4130 02 209 Workshops & Training 1,750.00 0.00 0.00 1,750.00 0.00
100 4130 02 216 Advertising 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00
100 4130 02 224 Meetings & Meals 6,300.00 380.72 642.55 5,657.45 10.20
100 4130 02 225 Mileage 500.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
100 4130 02 230 Fed-Ex 250.00 0.00 0.00 250.00 0.00
100 4130 02 231 Postage 13,000.00 2,099.18 2,516.99 10,483.01 19.36
100 4130 02 262 Town Report 3,500.00 2,947.00 2,947.00 553.00 84.20
100 4130 02 317 Service Contract (copier) 6,500.00 542.00 1,626.00 4,874.00 25.02
100 4130 02 319 Background Checks 500.00 0.00 47.00 453.00 9.40
100 4130 02 328 Town Meeting 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00
Total Administration 230,210.00 19,493.44 57,129.93 173,080.07 24.82
Total Executive 242,210.00 19,493.44 57,129.93 185,080.07 23.59

ELECTION & REGISTRATION
100 4140 01 201 Supplies 2,500.00 1,640.61 1,640.61 859.39 65.62
100 4140 01 219 Ballot Clerks 1,500.00 975.00 975.00 525.00 65.00
100 4140 01 220 Moderator/Asst. Moderator 900.00 900.00 900.00 0.00 100.00
100 4140 01 221 Meals 500.00 154.08 154.08 345.92 30.82
100 4140 01 301 Supervisors of the checklist 3,600.00 3,600.00 3,600.00 0.00 100.00
100 4140 01 308 Workshops & Training 100.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
100 4140 01 317 Equipment Maintenance 625.00 0.00 0.00 625.00 0.00
Total Election & Registration 9,725.00 7,269.69 7,269.69 2,455.31 74.75

FINANCIAL ADMINSTRATION
FINANCE
100 4150 01 120 Finance Payroll 130,500.00 9,439.37 28,233.51 102,266.49 21.63
100 4150 01 204 Dues/Misc Exp. 400.00 0.00 0.00 400.00 0.00
100 4150 01 217 Audit 26,000.00 4,975.00 9,493.75 16,506.25 36.51
100 4150 01 306 Financial Software Lic/Training 5,000.00 0.00 2,052.75 2,947.25 41.06
100 4150 01 308 Workshops & Training 800.00 0.00 0.00 800.00 0.00
100 4150 01 401 Contracted Services 20,000.00 1,193.05 4,730.33 15,269.67 23.65
100 4150 05 111 Finance-Treasurer Stipend 6,540.00 0.00 0.00 6,540.00 0.00
Total Finance 189,240.00 15,607.42 44,510.34 144,729.66 23.52

ASSESSING
100 4150 02 114 Assessing Payroll 8,301.00 699.84 1,927.48 6,373.52 23.22
100 4150 02 201 Assessing Supplies 500.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
100 4150 02 204 Dues/Misc Exp. 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00
100 4150 02 218 Registry Expense 100.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
100 4150 02 304 Tax maps 4,000.00 0.00 180.00 3,820.00 4.50
100 4150 02 308 Workshops & Training 250.00 0.00 0.00 250.00 0.00
100 4150 02 316 Cell Phone Reimbursement 0.00 0.00 162.68 (162.68) 0.00
100 4150 02 317 Equipment Maintenance/Software 7,500.00 0.00 0.00 7,500.00 0.00
100 4150 02 401 Contracted Services 70,000.00 1,800.00 6,150.00 63,850.00 8.79
Total Assessing 91,651.00 2,499.84 8,420.16 83,230.84 9.19

Town Clerk/Tax Collector
100 4150 03 112 TC/TC Payroll 142,000.00 11,085.63 31,717.32 110,282.68 22.34
100 4150 03 201 Office Supplies 4,500.00 633.60 713.54 3,786.46 15.86
100 4150 03 204 Dues & Memberships 60.00 0.00 0.00 60.00 0.00
100 4150 03 209 Conventions 600.00 0.00 0.00 600.00 0.00
100 4150 03 218 Registry of Deeds 400.00 0.00 8.63 391.37 2.16
100 4150 03 223 Lien Notifications 600.00 0.00 82.50 517.50 13.75
100 4150 03 225 Mileage 400.00 0.00 0.00 400.00 0.00
100 4150 03 269 Restoration of records 3,000.00 0.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00
100 4150 03 306 Computer Support-Service 11,780.00 0.00 4,032.00 7,748.00 34.23
100 4150 03 308 Workshops & Training 500.00 345.00 345.00 155.00 69.00



Town of StrathamRun: 4/10/2023 at 1:53 PM
For  3/31/2023

Page:    2

Dept
Budget

2023
MTD

Actual

YTD
Actual
2023 Balance

%
Expended

Total Town Clerk/Tax Collector 163,840.00 12,064.23 36,898.99 126,941.01 22.52

Total Financial Administration 444,731.00 30,171.49 89,829.49 354,901.51 20.20

COMPUTER SERVICES
100 4150 04 201 IT Supplies/Materials 7,000.00 3,886.11 4,827.89 2,172.11 68.97
100 4150 04 202 Cloud subscripitions 14,000.00 0.00 0.00 14,000.00 0.00
100 4150 04 205 Managed IT Services 80,000.00 5,173.00 15,724.00 64,276.00 19.66
100 4150 04 206 Telecom & Internet 7,800.00 0.00 0.00 7,800.00 0.00
Total Computer Services 108,800.00 9,059.11 20,551.89 88,248.11 18.89

LEGAL EXPENSES
100 4153 01 202 Legal Expenses 40,000.00 6,939.28 11,907.59 28,092.41 29.77
Total Legal Services 40,000.00 6,939.28 11,907.59 28,092.41 29.77

PERSONNEL ADMINISTRATION
100 4155 01 171 Medicare 50,000.00 3,857.58 10,628.93 39,371.07 21.26
100 4155 01 173 New Hampshire Retirement 572,000.00 42,675.78 159,643.11 412,356.89 27.91
100 4155 01 174 Social Security 138,000.00 10,949.28 30,261.63 107,738.37 21.93
100 4155 01 176 Unemployment 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00
100 4155 01 191 Insurance Buyout Program 83,000.00 18,914.86 18,914.86 64,085.14 22.79
100 4155 01 192 Life/AD&D 7,100.00 577.50 1,633.50 5,466.50 23.01
100 4155 01 193 Long-Term Disability 12,000.00 929.36 2,629.72 9,370.28 21.91
100 4155 01 194 Short-Term Disability 13,500.00 1,041.90 2,944.28 10,555.72 21.81
100 4155 01 195 Health/Dental Insurance 350,000.00 27,731.60 77,659.22 272,340.78 22.19
100 4155 01 196 HealthTrust HRA 15,000.00 3,880.93 3,880.93 11,119.07 25.87
100 4155 01 197 Misc. Fees 600.00 0.00 0.00 600.00 0.00
100 4155 01 198 Leave Compensation 10,000.00 549.05 549.05 9,450.95 5.49
100 4155 01 199 HealthTrust FSA 9,000.00 0.00 0.00 9,000.00 0.00
100 4155 02 198 Compensation Adjustments 20,000.00 0.00 0.00 20,000.00 0.00
Total Personnel 1,282,200.00 111,107.84 308,745.23 973,454.77 24.08

PLANNING & ZONING
PLANNING
100 4191 01 120 Planning Department Payroll 120,500.00 8,206.37 24,272.61 96,227.39 20.14
100 4191 01 201 Supplies 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00
100 4191 01 203 Legal Ads 3,200.00 247.84 811.81 2,388.19 25.37
100 4191 01 204 Dues & Memberships 750.00 0.00 0.00 750.00 0.00
100 4191 01 270 Rockingham Conservation District 500.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
100 4191 01 271 Rock. Planning Commission 7,900.00 0.00 0.00 7,900.00 0.00
100 4191 01 276 Special Projects 2,500.00 32.90 32.90 2,467.10 1.32
100 4191 01 306 Software License & Training 6,700.00 0.00 0.00 6,700.00 0.00
100 4191 01 308 Training 1,600.00 0.00 0.00 1,600.00 0.00
100 4191 01 318 Equipment 950.00 0.00 0.00 950.00 0.00
100 4191 01 319 Gas - Mileage 100.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
Total Planning 146,700.00 8,487.11 25,117.32 121,582.68 17.12

BUILDING INSPECTOR/CODE ENFORCEMENT
100 4191 02 122 BI / CEO Department Payroll 133,718.00 8,127.75 27,831.75 105,886.25 20.81
100 4191 02 201 Supplies 3,000.00 157.88 918.00 2,082.00 30.60
100 4191 02 235 Fire Inspection Fees 500.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
100 4191 02 260 Plan Review 100.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
100 4191 02 266 Reference Materials 1,750.00 0.00 0.00 1,750.00 0.00
100 4191 02 306 Software License & Training 9,500.00 0.00 0.00 9,500.00 0.00
100 4191 02 308 Workshops & Training 1,800.00 0.00 320.00 1,480.00 17.78
100 4191 02 318 Equipment 1,200.00 0.00 0.00 1,200.00 0.00
100 4191 02 376 Vehicle Maintenance 750.00 0.00 129.10 620.90 17.21
Total Building Inspector/Code Enforcement 152,318.00 8,285.63 29,198.85 123,119.15 19.17

Total Planning & Zoning 299,018.00 16,772.74 54,316.17 244,701.83 18.16

GENERAL GOVT. BUILDINGS
100 4194 01 104 Facilities Payroll 79,120.00 5,552.99 16,518.51 62,601.49 20.88
100 4194 01 222 MC Supplies 4,300.00 648.50 1,557.92 2,742.08 36.23
100 4194 01 314 MC Electricity 26,200.00 3,092.51 6,010.63 20,189.37 22.94
100 4194 01 315 MC Heat 12,000.00 5,860.03 8,217.00 3,783.00 68.48
100 4194 01 316 MC Telephone 7,000.00 982.27 2,352.37 4,647.63 33.61
100 4194 01 318 MC Equipment 3,200.00 68.98 480.48 2,719.52 15.02
100 4194 01 375 MC Building Maintenance/Repairs 30,500.00 3,174.97 12,582.39 17,917.61 41.25



Town of StrathamRun: 4/10/2023 at 1:53 PM
For  3/31/2023

Page:    3

Dept
Budget

2023
MTD

Actual

YTD
Actual
2023 Balance

%
Expended

100 4194 02 375 Rental Property Maintenance 8,700.00 793.51 871.70 7,828.30 10.02
100 4194 04 314 Historical Soc. Electricity 1,500.00 114.52 229.71 1,270.29 15.31
100 4194 04 315 Historical Soc. Heat 4,800.00 947.76 2,497.12 2,302.88 52.02
100 4194 04 375 Historical  Building Maintenance/Repairs 2,500.00 318.50 318.50 2,181.50 12.74
100 4194 06 240 Smyk Landscape Maintenance 3,200.00 0.00 0.00 3,200.00 0.00
Total General Govt. Buildings 183,020.00 21,554.54 51,636.33 131,383.67 28.21

CEMETERIES
100 4195 01 141 Cemetery Payroll 25,015.00 1,556.46 4,470.77 20,544.23 17.87
100 4195 01 222 Supplies 4,000.00 0.00 237.18 3,762.82 5.93
100 4195 01 240 Ground Maintenance 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 10,000.00 0.00
100 4195 01 306 Computer Maintenance 500.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
100 4195 01 317 Equipment Maintenance 4,170.00 0.00 0.00 4,170.00 0.00
100 4195 01 318 Equipment 300.00 0.00 0.00 300.00 0.00
100 4195 01 401 Contracted Services 1,500.00 0.00 0.00 1,500.00 0.00
Total Cemeteries 45,485.00 1,556.46 4,707.95 40,777.05 10.35

INSURANCE
100 4196 01 190 Workers' Compensation 50,865.00 0.00 47,958.18 2,906.82 94.29
100 4196 01 248 Property & Liability Insurance 73,689.00 0.00 67,242.10 6,446.90 91.25
Total Insurance 124,554.00 0.00 115,200.28 9,353.72 92.49

OTHER GEN. GOVT.
100 4199 01 243 Town Ctr Water Contamination Expenses 12,000.00 936.60 1,442.00 10,558.00 12.02
Total Other Gen. Government 12,000.00 936.60 1,442.00 10,558.00 12.02

TOTAL GENERAL GOVERNMENT 2,791,743.00 224,861.19 722,736.55 2,069,006.45 25.89

PUBLIC SAFETY
POLICE
PD Payroll
100 4210 01 130 Police Full Time Payroll 1,021,313.00 75,747.76 227,186.18 794,126.82 22.24
100 4210 01 133 Police-Holiday pay 32,638.00 0.00 0.00 32,638.00 0.00
100 4210 01 134 Prosecutor Payroll 38,840.00 2,987.58 8,962.74 29,877.26 23.08
100 4210 01 135 Police Overtime 99,060.00 9,105.97 18,846.42 80,213.58 19.03
100 4210 01 136 Police - PT & ACO 40,000.00 972.00 1,674.00 38,326.00 4.19
Total Payroll 1,231,851.00 88,813.31 256,669.34 975,181.66 20.84

PD Operations
100 4210 02 201 PD Office Supplies 8,000.00 379.63 (72.89) 8,072.89 (0.91)
100 4210 02 226 Community Service Program 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00
100 4210 02 278 Special Response Team (SERT) 2,500.00 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 100.00
100 4210 02 305 Technical Support 20,500.00 1,940.32 3,664.16 16,835.84 17.87
100 4210 02 308 Training & Dues 24,000.00 1,218.00 4,840.00 19,160.00 20.17
100 4210 02 310 Uniforms 13,000.00 1,769.35 2,717.25 10,282.75 20.90
100 4210 02 317 Equipment Repairs 3,000.00 735.00 1,402.64 1,597.36 46.75
100 4210 02 318 New Equipment 8,000.00 117.80 760.79 7,239.21 9.51
100 4210 02 319 Gas & Oil 22,000.00 92.56 6,405.22 15,594.78 29.11
100 4210 02 376 Vehicle Maintenance 18,500.00 3,601.89 4,822.36 13,677.64 26.07
100 4210 02 888 PD Grant Paid Expenditures 0.00 (205.88) (205.88) 205.88 0.00
Total PD Operations 120,500.00 12,148.67 26,833.65 93,666.35 22.27

PD Building
100 4210 03 314 Electricity 9,000.00 788.46 1,768.28 7,231.72 19.65
100 4210 03 315 Heating 5,200.00 1,793.83 2,913.65 2,286.35 56.03
100 4210 03 316 Telephone 7,500.00 468.55 750.68 6,749.32 10.01
100 4210 03 375 PD Building Maintenance 14,000.00 798.14 3,679.82 10,320.18 26.28
Total PD Building 35,700.00 3,848.98 9,112.43 26,587.57 25.53

Total Police 1,388,051.00 104,810.96 292,615.42 1,095,435.58 21.08

FIRE DEPARTMENT
FD Operations
100 4220 01 100 Fire Dept. Payroll 295,000.00 20,171.36 62,997.74 232,002.26 21.36
100 4220 01 130 FD Detail 5,000.00 0.00 150.00 4,850.00 3.00
100 4220 01 204 Dues 3,500.00 0.00 1,000.00 2,500.00 28.57
100 4220 01 222 Supplies 2,500.00 (215.67) 176.91 2,323.09 7.08
100 4220 01 228 EMS Supplies 15,000.00 2,672.28 3,162.90 11,837.10 21.09
100 4220 01 236 Fire Prevention 3,000.00 0.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00



Town of StrathamRun: 4/10/2023 at 1:53 PM
For  3/31/2023

Page:    4

Dept
Budget

2023
MTD

Actual

YTD
Actual
2023 Balance

%
Expended

100 4220 01 243 Haz-Mat Start Team 3,800.00 0.00 3,765.00 35.00 99.08
100 4220 01 245 Insurance 1,232.00 0.00 0.00 1,232.00 0.00
100 4220 01 308 Training & Conferences 6,000.00 474.00 474.00 5,526.00 7.90
100 4220 01 310 Uniforms 3,000.00 0.00 649.42 2,350.58 21.65
100 4220 01 311 Gear 25,000.00 615.01 615.01 24,384.99 2.46
100 4220 01 316 Equipment Maintenance 16,000.00 718.00 718.00 15,282.00 4.49
100 4220 01 317 MV Maintenance 34,000.00 2,837.80 4,500.06 29,499.94 13.24
100 4220 01 318 New Equipment 30,000.00 890.83 1,087.31 28,912.69 3.62
100 4220 01 319 Gas & Oil 7,000.00 44.97 1,572.43 5,427.57 22.46
100 4220 01 323 Billing Expenses 13,000.00 731.14 1,823.30 11,176.70 14.03
Total FD Operations 463,032.00 28,939.72 82,692.08 380,339.92 17.86

FD Building
100 4220 02 240 Landscape Maintenance 1,500.00 0.00 0.00 1,500.00 0.00
100 4220 02 246 Internet/IT Charges 7,000.00 251.92 1,249.23 5,750.77 17.85
100 4220 02 314 Electricity 20,000.00 1,754.74 3,584.90 16,415.10 17.92
100 4220 02 315 Heat 20,000.00 5,921.53 12,093.03 7,906.97 60.47
100 4220 02 316 Telephone 8,000.00 432.87 1,061.18 6,938.82 13.26
100 4220 02 375 Building Maintenance & Repairs 13,500.00 3,883.71 5,472.71 8,027.29 40.54
Total FD Building 70,000.00 12,244.77 23,461.05 46,538.95 33.52

Total Fire Department 533,032.00 41,184.49 106,153.13 426,878.87 19.91

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT
100 4290 01 227 Emergency Management Expenses 9,500.00 0.00 0.00 9,500.00 0.00
Total Emergency Management 9,500.00 0.00 0.00 9,500.00 0.00

DISPATCH SERVICES
100 4299 01 316 Dispatch Phone Expense 1,000.00 81.10 161.73 838.27 16.17

Total Public Safety 1,931,583.00 146,076.55 398,930.28 1,532,652.72 20.65

PUBLIC WORKS
HIGHWAY
100 4312 01 140 Highway Payroll 279,845.00 16,340.47 49,845.20 229,999.80 17.81
100 4312 01 141 Highway Overtime 25,000.00 7,880.12 15,333.37 9,666.63 61.33
100 4312 01 142 Temporary Plow Drivers 10,000.00 1,210.77 2,293.15 7,706.85 22.93
100 4312 01 210 Hwy Vehicle Purchase 33,161.00 0.00 0.00 33,161.00 0.00
100 4312 01 211 Drainage 8,000.00 0.00 0.00 8,000.00 0.00
100 4312 01 222 Supplies 6,500.00 608.37 2,094.28 4,405.72 32.22
100 4312 01 224 Meals 1,500.00 1,051.57 1,091.10 408.90 72.74
100 4312 01 279 Substance Abuse Testing 1,800.00 177.25 347.25 1,452.75 19.29
100 4312 01 303 Rented Equipment 7,000.00 1,436.52 3,519.74 3,480.26 50.28
100 4312 01 306 Computer Software Maintenance 1,734.00 0.00 0.00 1,734.00 0.00
100 4312 01 308 Training 1,500.00 0.00 0.00 1,500.00 0.00
100 4312 01 310 Uniforms 6,000.00 0.00 100.00 5,900.00 1.67
100 4312 01 314 Electricity 8,750.00 1,198.99 2,210.82 6,539.18 25.27
100 4312 01 315 Heating 2,500.00 0.00 1,275.14 1,224.86 51.01
100 4312 01 316 Telephone 4,208.00 203.32 421.10 3,786.90 10.01
100 4312 01 317 Equipment Repairs & Maintenance 55,000.00 1,267.27 15,621.74 39,378.26 28.40
100 4312 01 318 New Equipment & Signs 9,400.00 1,389.68 1,894.33 7,505.67 20.15
100 4312 01 319 Gas & Oil 39,200.00 0.00 8,395.98 30,804.02 21.42
100 4312 01 320 Road Paint 10,080.00 0.00 0.00 10,080.00 0.00
100 4312 01 321 Salt 55,300.00 0.00 0.00 55,300.00 0.00
100 4312 01 322 Aggregate 8,500.00 3,382.00 3,382.00 5,118.00 39.79
100 4312 01 325 Paving & Road Reconstruction 150,000.00 0.00 0.00 150,000.00 0.00
100 4312 01 375 Building Maintenance 20,000.00 11,817.94 19,156.36 843.64 95.78
100 4312 01 401 Contracted Services 3,500.00 575.00 575.00 2,925.00 16.43
Total Highway 748,478.00 48,539.27 127,556.56 620,921.44 17.04

STREET LIGHTING
100 4316 01 314 Street Lighting 10,750.00 709.43 1,323.84 9,426.16 12.31

Total Public Works 759,228.00 49,248.70 128,880.40 630,347.60 16.98

SANITATION
SOLID WASTE COLL. & DISPOSAL
100 4323 01 142 Sanitation Payroll 45,623.00 2,632.07 7,710.20 37,912.80 16.90



Town of StrathamRun: 4/10/2023 at 1:53 PM
For  3/31/2023

Page:    5

Dept
Budget

2023
MTD

Actual

YTD
Actual
2023 Balance

%
Expended

100 4323 01 212 MSW/Recycling Coll. & Disposal 907,370.00 58,580.60 137,482.86 769,887.14 15.15
100 4323 01 242 Hazardous Waste Collection 5,277.00 0.00 0.00 5,277.00 0.00
100 4323 01 247 Landfill Closure Costs 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 12,000.00 0.00
100 4323 01 309 Transfer Station Expenses 95,081.00 5,195.43 8,384.46 86,696.54 8.82
100 4323 01 314 Electricity 810.00 95.35 171.77 638.23 21.21
100 4323 01 317 Materials & Supplies 6,144.00 0.00 0.00 6,144.00 0.00
Total Solid Waste Coll. & Disposal 1,072,305.00 66,503.45 153,749.29 918,555.71 14.34

PUBLIC WORKS (OTHER)

100 4339 01 327 Public Works Commission 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00
Total PW Other 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00

HEALTH
ANIMAL CONTROL
100 4414 01 244 Impoundment Fees/Supplies 600.00 0.00 0.00 600.00 0.00
Total Animal Control 600.00 0.00 0.00 600.00 0.00

PEST CONTROL
100 4414 02 326 Pest Control Contracted Services 54,144.00 0.00 0.00 54,144.00 0.00

PUBLIC SERVICE AGENCIES
100 4415 01 000 Annie's Angels 2,500.00 0.00 0.00 2,500.00 0.00
100 4415 01 001 American Red Cross 800.00 0.00 0.00 800.00 0.00
100 4415 01 351 Seacoast Mental Health Ctr. 3,500.00 0.00 0.00 3,500.00 0.00
100 4415 01 352 Waypoint 6,700.00 0.00 0.00 6,700.00 0.00
100 4415 01 353 Haven 4,250.00 0.00 0.00 4,250.00 0.00
100 4415 01 354 Big Brother & Big Sister 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00
100 4415 01 355 Community Action Prog. 4,500.00 0.00 0.00 4,500.00 0.00
100 4415 01 356 Retired & Senior Volunteer Prog 500.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
100 4415 01 359 AIDS Response of the Seacoast 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00
100 4415 01 360 Rockingham County Nutrition Program 4,000.00 0.00 0.00 4,000.00 0.00
100 4415 01 361 Seacoast Shipyard Assoc. 200.00 0.00 0.00 200.00 0.00
100 4415 01 362 Crossroads House 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00
100 4415 01 366 Child Advocacy Center 1,250.00 0.00 0.00 1,250.00 0.00
100 4415 01 368 Families First 2,500.00 0.00 0.00 2,500.00 0.00
100 4415 01 369 Womenade of Greater Squamscott 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00
100 4415 01 370 Transportation Assistance for Seacoast Citizens 3,000.00 0.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00
Total Public Service Agencies 38,700.00 0.00 0.00 38,700.00 0.00

WELFARE
DIRECT ASSISTANCE
100 4445 01 314 Public Asst. Electricity 1,250.00 0.00 0.00 1,250.00 0.00
100 4445 01 340 Public Asst. Food 150.00 0.00 (15.59) 165.59 (10.39)
100 4445 01 341 Public Asst. Heat 1,500.00 389.90 807.65 692.35 53.84
100 4445 01 343 Public Asst. Medical-Pharmacy 100.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
100 4445 01 344 Public Asst. Rent-Mortgage 7,500.00 0.00 1,438.30 6,061.70 19.18
100 4445 01 345 Public Asst. Misc. Assistance 875.00 0.00 1,400.00 (525.00) 160.00
Total Direct Assistance 11,375.00 389.90 3,630.36 7,744.64 31.92

CULTURE & RECREATION
PARKS
100 4520 01 144 PT Ranger Payroll 59,795.00 2,905.82 7,390.15 52,404.85 12.36
100 4520 01 201 Supplies 700.00 0.00 0.00 700.00 0.00
100 4520 01 240 Grounds Maintenance 47,000.00 600.00 1,568.00 45,432.00 3.34
100 4520 01 308 Training 350.00 0.00 0.00 350.00 0.00
100 4520 01 310 Uniforms 750.00 0.00 0.00 750.00 0.00
100 4520 01 314 Electricity 8,300.00 409.72 828.55 7,471.45 9.98
100 4520 01 317 Equipment Maintenance 4,800.00 0.00 0.00 4,800.00 0.00
100 4520 01 330 Park Maintenance Supplies 5,800.00 0.00 32.05 5,767.95 0.55
100 4520 01 376 Park Vehicle Maintenance 5,000.00 0.00 918.90 4,081.10 18.38
100 4520 01 377 All Other Park Building Maintenance 9,000.00 129.69 559.43 8,440.57 6.22
Total Parks 141,495.00 4,045.23 11,297.08 130,197.92 7.98

RECREATION
100 4520 02 145 Recreation Payroll 140,595.00 10,572.36 31,870.30 108,724.70 22.67
100 4520 02 201 Office Expenses 1,200.00 311.88 319.07 880.93 26.59
100 4520 02 204 Memberships 0.00 25.00 25.00 (25.00) 0.00
100 4520 02 273 Seniors Programming 20,000.00 467.64 2,325.29 17,674.71 11.63



Town of StrathamRun: 4/10/2023 at 1:53 PM
For  3/31/2023

Page:    6

Dept
Budget

2023
MTD

Actual

YTD
Actual
2023 Balance

%
Expended

100 4520 02 316 Cellphone Reimbursement 1,302.00 0.00 0.00 1,302.00 0.00
100 4520 02 319 Gas-Mileage 650.00 0.00 81.22 568.78 12.50
100 4520 02 324 Brochures/Newsletters 1,500.00 81.99 81.99 1,418.01 5.47
100 4520 02 328 Special Events 3,000.00 0.00 725.00 2,275.00 24.17
Total Recreation 168,247.00 11,458.87 35,427.87 132,819.13 21.06
Total Parks & Recreation 309,742.00 15,504.10 46,724.95 263,017.05 15.09

LIBRARY
100 4550 01 147 Library Payroll 450,442.00 34,222.93 98,963.87 351,478.13 21.97
100 4550 01 249 Non-salary expenses 110,400.00 0.00 27,600.00 82,800.00 25.00
Total Library 560,842.00 34,222.93 126,563.87 434,278.13 22.57

PATRIOTIC PURPOSES
100 4583 01 238 Flags 500.00 0.00 382.00 118.00 76.40
100 4583 01 277 Patriotic Misc. 1,200.00 0.00 0.00 1,200.00 0.00
Total Patriotic Purposes 1,700.00 0.00 382.00 1,318.00 22.47

CONSERVATION
100 4611 01 207 Conservation Commission 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 0.00

HERITAGE COMMISSION
100 4619 01 215 Heritage Administrative Expenses 400.00 150.00 150.00 250.00 37.50
100 4619 01 302 Survey/Software-Heritage 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 0.00
100 4619 01 308 Training/Conferences 100.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
100 4619 01 313 Veterans/Engraving 200.00 0.00 0.00 200.00 0.00
TOTAL EXPENSES 5,700.00 150.00 150.00 5,550.00 2.63

ECONOMIC DEV. COMM.

TOWN CENTER REVITALIZATION

ENERGY COMMISSION
100 4660 02 281 Energy Commission Expenses 1,200.00 0.00 0.00 1,200.00 0.00

DEBT SERVICE
PRINCIPLE - LONG TERM
100 4711 00 400 Debt Service Principal 570,000.00 0.00 370,000.00 200,000.00 64.91

INTEREST - LONG TERM
100 4721 00 401 Debt Service Interest 97,325.00 0.00 58,413.75 38,911.25 60.02

CAPITAL OUTLAY
LAND

MACH/EQUIP/VEHICLE CIP EXPENSES
100 4902 20 900 Town-wide Computer Replacement-prior 3,156.94 0.00 0.00 3,156.94 0.00
100 4902 20 901 Town-wide Computer Replacement-current 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 0.00
100 4902 21 900 Permitting software/digital storage-prior 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 10,000.00 0.00
100 4902 22 900 Town-wide Technology - prior 12,833.13 0.00 0.00 12,833.13 0.00
100 4902 22 901 Town-wide Technology - current 7,000.00 0.00 0.00 7,000.00 0.00
100 4902 23 900 Police Station Solar Array Buyout - prior 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 10,000.00 0.00
100 4902 23 901 Police Station Solar Array Buyout - current 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 0.00
100 4902 24 900 Traffic Control Program - prior 7,202.00 0.00 0.00 7,202.00 0.00
100 4902 24 901 Traffic Control Program - current 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 0.00
100 4902 25 900 MC Town vehicles - prior 15,000.00 0.00 0.00 15,000.00 0.00
100 4902 26 900 PD Cruiser Replacement - prior 7,460.49 0.00 0.00 7,460.49 0.00
100 4902 26 901 PD Cruiser Replacement - current 25,000.00 0.00 0.00 25,000.00 0.00
TOTAL MACH/EQUIP/VEHICLE CIP EXPENSES 112,652.56 0.00 0.00 112,652.56 0.00

BUILDING CIP EXPENSES
100 4903 30 900 Library Interior Improvements-prior 13,166.00 0.00 0.00 13,166.00 0.00
100 4903 30 901 Library Interior Improvements-current 20,000.00 0.00 0.00 20,000.00 0.00
100 4903 31 901 Municipal Center Improvements-current 15,000.00 0.00 0.00 15,000.00 0.00
TOTAL BUILDINGS 48,166.00 0.00 0.00 48,166.00 0.00

ALL OTHER/NON-BUILDING CIP EXPENSES
100 4909 40 900 Cemetery Improvements - prior 14,772.40 0.00 0.00 14,772.40 0.00
100 4909 50 900 Parks Facilities Improvements - prior 27,359.37 0.00 0.00 27,359.37 0.00
100 4909 50 901 Parks Facilities Improvements - current 17,000.00 0.00 0.00 17,000.00 0.00



Town of StrathamRun: 4/10/2023 at 1:53 PM
For  3/31/2023

Page:    7

Dept
Budget

2023
MTD

Actual

YTD
Actual
2023 Balance

%
Expended

100 4909 51 900 Parks Rds/Parking Lot Improvements - prior 16,000.00 0.00 0.00 16,000.00 0.00
100 4909 59 900 Parks-Open Space Connectivity Plan - prior 45,000.00 3,002.20 3,002.20 41,997.80 6.67
100 4909 59 901 Parks-Open Space Connectivity Plan - current 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 0.00
100 4909 60 900 SHP Facilities & Fields Improvments - prior 62,572.45 0.00 0.00 62,572.45 0.00
100 4909 60 901 SHP Facilities & Fields Improvments - current 17,000.00 0.00 0.00 17,000.00 0.00
100 4909 61 900 SHP Roads/Parking Improvments - prior 28,000.00 0.00 0.00 28,000.00 0.00
100 4909 69 900 Added by import 25,000.00 0.00 0.00 25,000.00 0.00
100 4909 69 901 SHP Area Plan - current 25,000.00 0.00 0.00 25,000.00 0.00
100 4909 71 900 Town-wide Parking Lots Paving - prior 81,000.00 0.00 0.00 81,000.00 0.00
100 4909 72 901 Road Reconstruction Program - current 370,000.00 0.00 0.00 370,000.00 0.00
100 4909 74 900 Bike & Ped Transp Improvements- prior 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 10,000.00 0.00
100 4909 75 900 State Roadway/Intersection Proj Partic- prior 75,000.00 0.00 0.00 75,000.00 0.00
100 4909 81 900 Stormwater Planning - prior 28,000.00 0.00 0.00 28,000.00 0.00
100 4909 81 901 Stormwater Planning - current 8,000.00 0.00 0.00 8,000.00 0.00
100 4909 91 900 Revaluation Expenses - prior 60,206.83 0.00 0.00 60,206.83 0.00
100 4909 91 901 Revaluation Expenses - current 24,000.00 0.00 0.00 24,000.00 0.00
100 4909 92 900 PFAS Response & Remediation - prior 90,934.00 85,069.76 85,069.76 5,864.24 93.55
100 4909 92 901 PFAS Response & Remediation - current 105,000.00 0.00 0.00 105,000.00 0.00
100 4909 99 900 Master Plan Update - prior 20,000.00 0.00 0.00 20,000.00 0.00
100 4909 99 901 Master Plan Update - current 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 10,000.00 0.00
TOTAL ALL OTHER/NON-BUILDING CIP EXPENSES 1,164,845.05 88,071.96 88,071.96 1,076,773.09 7.56
TOTAL CIP EXPENSES 1,325,663.61 88,071.96 88,071.96 1,237,591.65 6.64

TOTAL OPERATING BUDGET ONLY 8,211,188.00 536,956.82 2,010,161.45 6,201,026.55 24.48

OPERATING TRANSFERS OUT
CAPITAL PROJECT FUND

TRANSFERS TO CAPITAL RES. FUND

PAYMENTS TO OTHER GOVERNMENTS
100 4933 11 686 CMS Assessments 0.00 996,813.00 2,990,439.00 (2,990,439.00) 0.00
100 4933 11 687 SMS Assessments 0.00 880,000.00 2,640,000.00 (2,640,000.00) 0.00
TOTAL OTHER PAYMENTS 0.00 1,876,813.00 5,630,439.00 (5,630,439.00) 0.00

INSURANCE REIMBURSEMENTS

TOTAL GRANTS & INSURANCE

GRAND TOTAL ALL EXPENSES 9,536,851.61 2,501,841.78 7,728,672.41 1,808,179.20 81.04



Revenue (w/property taxes)
Town of StrathamRun: 4/10/2023 at 4:32 PM

For  3/31/2023
Page:    1

All -
FY2023
Budget MTD

YTD
FY2023
Actual Balance

%
Collected

Revenues
100 3185 01 000 Yield Tax Revenue 500.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
100 3189 01 000 Railroad Tax 150.00 0.00 0.00 150.00 0.00
100 3190 25 000 2021 Property Tax Interest 30,000.00 2,999.27 10,092.26 19,907.74 33.64
100 3190 26 000 2020 Tax Redemption Interest 3,500.00 0.00 0.00 3,500.00 0.00
100 3210 01 000 UCC Filings & Certificates 2,500.00 480.00 480.00 2,020.00 19.20
100 3210 02 000 Cemetery Lot Excavation 750.00 0.00 0.00 750.00 0.00
100 3210 03 000 Municipal Agent Fees 30,000.00 2,643.00 7,248.00 22,752.00 24.16
100 3210 05 000 Titles 3,200.00 266.00 798.00 2,402.00 24.94
100 3210 06 000 Vital Records 2,000.00 250.00 691.00 1,309.00 34.55
100 3210 07 000 Filing Fees 50.00 0.00 0.00 50.00 0.00
100 3210 08 000 Boat Agent Fees 1,600.00 180.00 385.00 1,215.00 24.06
100 3210 09 000 Misc Town Clerk Fees 2.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 0.00
100 3210 10 000 TC Mailing Fees 2,750.00 197.00 839.00 1,911.00 30.51
100 3210 11 000 Cremation Lot Excavations 4,750.00 0.00 0.00 4,750.00 0.00
100 3210 12 000 Fish & Game Municipal Agent Fees 200.00 (774.00) (1,977.00) 2,177.00 (988.50)
100 3220 01 000 Motor Vehicle Permit Fees 2,156,058.00 195,203.80 535,710.57 1,620,347.43 24.85
100 3220 02 000 Boat Fees - Town 6,200.00 480.60 1,420.43 4,779.57 22.91
100 3230 01 000 All Building Permits 150,000.00 13,080.68 36,725.89 113,274.11 24.48
100 3290 01 000 Dog Licenses 7,700.00 41.04 4,065.54 3,634.46 52.80
100 3290 02 000 Dog License Fines 650.00 0.00 110.00 540.00 16.92
100 3290 03 000 PD-Gun Permits 200.00 20.00 100.00 100.00 50.00
100 3290 04 000 Bad Check Fees 200.00 0.00 25.00 175.00 12.50
100 3350 01 000 Rooms & Meals 683,285.00 0.00 0.00 683,285.00 0.00
100 3353 01 000 Highway Block Grant 176,170.00 0.00 35,749.00 140,421.00 20.29
100 3359 02 000 OEM Drill Reimbursements 9,000.00 0.00 2,125.00 6,875.00 23.61
100 3359 09 000 Police Dept Grants Received 0.00 0.00 939.45 (939.45) 0.00
100 3401 01 000 PD-Parking Tickets 100.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
100 3401 02 000 PD-Alarms 300.00 0.00 0.00 300.00 0.00
100 3401 03 000 PD-Incident 500.00 30.00 60.00 440.00 12.00
100 3401 04 000 Planning Board 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00
100 3401 05 000 Zoning Board Of Adjustment 350.00 0.00 0.00 350.00 0.00
100 3401 06 000 Scrap Metal Recycling 5,500.00 183.45 183.45 5,316.55 3.34
100 3401 07 000 Plan Review 50.00 0.00 0.00 50.00 0.00
100 3401 08 000 Fire Inspections 500.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
100 3401 09 000 PD - Witness Fees 25.00 0.00 0.00 25.00 0.00
100 3401 10 000 PD Court Fees 75.00 0.00 0.00 75.00 0.00
100 3401 13 000 Recreation Year-End Fees 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00
100 3401 15 000 PD -Motor Vehicle Reports 2,750.00 210.00 585.00 2,165.00 21.27
100 3401 16 000 PD -Hawkers/Peddlers Lic. 150.00 0.00 0.00 150.00 0.00
100 3401 17 000 PD-School Resource Officer 71,385.00 0.00 0.00 71,385.00 0.00
100 3404 01 000 Transfer Station Permits 6,250.00 430.00 2,195.00 4,055.00 35.12
100 3404 02 000 Transfer Station Fees 58,500.00 1,790.00 6,585.00 51,915.00 11.26
100 3409 01 000 Franchise Cable Fee 171,500.00 0.00 42,876.72 128,623.28 25.00
100 3499 05 000 Primex/NHRS Insurance refund 0.00 0.00 1,889.63 (1,889.63) 0.00
100 3501 01 000 Sale of Recycling Bins 800.00 10.00 10.00 790.00 1.25
100 3501 03 000 Copies 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00
100 3501 04 000 Sale of Cemetery Lots 500.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
100 3501 08 000 Sale of Cremation Lots 50.00 0.00 0.00 50.00 0.00
100 3502 02 000 Investment Interest 40,000.00 21,769.31 67,280.71 (27,280.71) 168.20
100 3503 01 000 Gifford House Rent 27,000.00 2,100.00 6,300.00 20,700.00 23.33
100 3503 02 000 Park Cottage Rent 11,400.00 950.00 2,850.00 8,550.00 25.00
100 3503 03 000 Municipal Center Rent 1,600.00 50.00 450.00 1,150.00 28.13
100 3503 04 000 Foss/28 Bunker Hill Property Rent 21,600.00 1,800.00 5,400.00 16,200.00 25.00
100 3509 01 000 Miscellaneous Revenue 2,000.00 75.00 121.63 1,878.37 6.08
100 3509 05 000 Fire Department Details 700.00 0.00 0.00 700.00 0.00
Total Revenues 3,700,000.00 244,465.15 772,314.28 2,927,685.72 20.87

Total Revenues 3,700,000.00 244,465.15 772,314.28 2,927,685.72 20.87



National Library Week 
2023 Proclamation 

WHEREAS, libraries provide the opportunity for everyone to pursue their passions and engage 
in lifelong learning, allowing them to live their best life; 

WHEREAS, libraries have long served as trusted institutions for all members of the community 
regardless of race, ethnicity, creed, ability, sexual orientation, gender identity, or socio-economic 
status; 

WHEREAS, libraries strive to develop and maintain programs and collections that are as diverse 
as the populations they serve and ensure equity of access for all; 

WHEREAS, libraries create opportunities for early education, literacy, and community for 
children and families of all backgrounds; 

WHEREAS, libraries adapt to the ever-changing needs of their communities, continually 
expanding their collections, including non-traditional formats such as a Library of Things, as 
well as their services, and partnerships; 

WHEREAS, libraries play a critical role in the economic vitality of communities by providing 
internet and technology access, literacy skills, and support for job seekers, small businesses, and 
entrepreneurs; 

WHEREAS, libraries are accessible and inclusive places that promote a sense of local 
connection, advancing understanding, civic engagement, and shared community goals; 

WHEREAS, libraries are cornerstones of democracy, promoting the free exchange of 
information and ideas for all; 

WHEREAS, libraries, librarians, and library workers are joining library supporters and 
advocates across the nation to celebrate National Library Week; 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved that we the Stratham Select Board proclaim National 
Library Week, April 23-29, 2023 in the Town of Stratham, New Hampshire.  During this week, 
we encourage all residents to visit the Wiggin Memorial Library to explore the wealth of 
resources available.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto set our hand this 17th day of April 2023, A.D. 

 

______________________ ________________________       __________________ 

Michael Houghton, Chair Allison Knab, Vice Chair           Joe Anderson 
 













Order Confirmation
Not an Invoice

Account Number: 683636

Customer Name: Town Of Stratham

Customer
Address:

Town Of Stratham
10 BUNKER HILL AVE.
STRATHAM NH 03885

Contact Name: David Moore

Contact Phone:

Contact Email: dmoore@StrathamNH.gov

PO Number:

Date: 03/27/2023

Order Number: 8627419

Prepayment
Amount:

$ 0.00

Column Count: 1.0000

Line Count: 19.0000

Height in Inches: 0.0000

Print

Product #Insertions Start - End Category

NEO PRT Seacoast Daily 1 03/30/2023 - 03/30/2023 Govt Public Notices

NEO PRT seacoastonline.com 1 03/30/2023 - 03/30/2023 Govt Public Notices

Total Order Confirmation $94.47

1/2



Ad Preview

2/2



Attachment C:  Corporation By-Laws

-23-

2.3.18  Assign, delegate, or contract with a Member or third party to perform any 
of the duties of the Board, including, but not limited to, acting as administrator of the 
Corporation;  

2.3.19  Carry out other duties as required to accomplish other responsibilities as 
set forth in the JPA; and 

2.3.20  Exercise all other powers necessary, proper, and lawful to carry out the 
Articles of Agreement and these By-Laws. 

2.3.21   Defend, hold harmless, and indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by 
law, each Member from any liability, claims, suits, or other actions. 

 
ARTICLE III  

MEMBERSHIP 

Section 3.1  Members 

The initial Members of CPCNH shall be the towns, cities, and counties that 
entered into the JPA on or before its effective date of October 1, 2021.  Pursuant to NH 
RSA 53-E, the following shall be also eligible to become members of CPCNH: 

Section 3.2  Municipalities   

Any city, town, unincorporated place, or village district within the state.  Any 
such entity (hereinafter “Municipality”) shall be eligible for membership in CPCNH. 

Section 3.3  Counties   

Any county within the state.  Any such entity (hereinafter “County”) shall be 
eligible for membership in CPCNH. 

Section 3.4  Joint Powers Authority  Any group of municipalities  and counties 
that have chosen to jointly operate a community power aggregation in accordance with 
NH RSA 53-A and RSA 53-E shall be eligible for membership in CPCNH as a Joint 
Powers Authority in lieu of individual municipal or county memberships. 

Section 3.5  Manner of Becoming a Member 

Any city, town, unincorporated place, village district, county, or joint powers 
authorities may become a Member at any time upon an affirmative vote by the 
governing body of the proposed new Member to approve and join the Community 
Power Coalition of New Hampshire Joint Powers Agreement and by an affirmative 
vote of a majority of the Board of Directors to approve the new Member. 

Section 3.6  Designation of Member Representatives; Voting  

The governing body of each Member shall designate in writing to the Chief 
Executive Officer, or Chair of the Board in the absence of a Chief Executive Officer, an 
elected or appointed official as a Member representative who shall attend CPCNH 
meetings and vote on behalf of the Member.  The governing body of each Member may 
also designate in writing an alternate to serve when the primary representative is 



Attachment C:  Corporation By-Laws

-24-

unavailable.  The designated representative or alternate may also be employees or 
volunteers of the Member.  Each Member shall be entitled to one vote on the election of 
Directors and all other matters submitted to a vote of the membership.   

Section 3.7  Voluntary Withdrawal of Membership   

A Member’s membership with CPCNH may be withdrawn by the Member’s 
governing body upon notifying the Chair of the Board of Directors in writing and 
complying the provisions of Section 3.9.  

Section 3.8  Involuntary Termination of Membership   

A Member’s membership with CPCNH may be terminated by a two-thirds (2/3) 
vote of the entire Board of Directors, with the exception of the terminated Member’s 
representative if they are also a Director, for reasons deemed good and sufficient by the 
voting Directors. Default under a Project Contract, failure to satisfy the material terms 
of its Cost Sharing Agreement, as defined in the JPA, with the Corporation, and 
material non-compliance with the provisions of the JPA are each ground for 
terminating membership. 

Section 3.9  Continuing Obligations   

Any withdrawn or terminated Member shall execute all reasonable and 
necessary documents to effectuate such withdrawal or termination and such Members’ 
continuing obligations shall be pursuant to the same terms for continuing obligations as 
provided for under Article IV, Section 6 of the JPA.  

ARTICLE IV 

MEMBERSHIP MEETINGS 

Section 4.1  Annual Membership Meeting of CPCNH    

Each April there shall be an annual meeting (“Annual Membership Meeting”) of 
the Members at a specific date, time, and place established by the Board of Directors 
(“Board”).  Written notice thereof shall be sent to the principal executive officers of each 
Member by the Chief Executive Officer or Chair of the Board not less than thirty (30) 
days prior to the Annual Membership Meeting date.  The notice shall set forth the 
number of Directors to be elected by the Members, as well as any other items of 
business to be conducted at the Annual Membership Meeting.  Only those items set 
forth in the notice shall be acted upon at the Annual Membership Meeting. 

 Section 4.2 Regular Meetings of CPCNH   

The Members may vote to hold periodic meetings.  An annual schedule for such 
meetings may be established by a majority vote of the Members.  Written notice for each 
such meeting shall be given not less than ten days prior to the date of the meeting.  The 
notice shall set forth the items of business to be conducted at each meeting.  By a 
majority vote of the Members present at the meeting, items of business not identified in 
the meeting notice may be transacted at such meeting. 



Attachment C:  Corporation By-Laws

-25-

Section 4.3  Special Meetings   

Special meetings of CPCNH may be called by the Board or at the written request 
of twenty-five percent (25%) of the Members.  Written notice of a special meeting shall 
be given not less than five (5) days prior to the date of said meeting.  Only such business 
stated in the notice shall be transacted at the said meeting. 

Section 4.4  Quorum   

Not less than twenty-five percent (25%) of the total number of Members shall 
constitute a quorum for any meeting of the Members of CPCNH. 

Section 4.5  Vote Necessary to Take Action   

A plurality vote of the Members in attendance at a Membership meeting shall be 
necessary to elect any Director.  A majority vote of the Members in attendance at a 
Membership meeting shall decide any other matter, except as otherwise provided in 
these By-Laws.  Attendance at a meeting may be in the manners specified in Section 
5.10 of these By-Laws. 

Section 4.6  Meetings Subject to Right-to-Know Law   

All meetings of CPCNH shall comply with New Hampshire’s Right-to-Know 
Law, NH RSA 91-A, as amended from time to time. 

ARTICLE V  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Section 5.1  Management 

The affairs, activities, and property of CPCNH shall be managed, directed, and 
controlled by, and its power exercised by and vested in a Board of Directors, which 
shall have all powers enumerated in the Articles of Agreement, the laws of the State of 
New Hampshire as amended from time to time, and all other powers conferred by 
these By-Laws and the JPA. Each year the Board shall establish the budget for 
CPCNH. 

Section 5.2  Board Duties 

In addition to those duties outlined briefly in Section 5.1 above, the Board may 
appoint a Chief Executive Officer and authorize such other positions as it shall deem 
necessary to conduct the work of the organization. 

Section 5.3  Composition 

5.3.1 Initial Board  Subject to the provisions of Section 5.3.2, below, the initial 
Board of Directors shall consist of one designated representative, or alternate, from each 
Member.  At any point in time that there are less than five (5) Members, the Members, 
through their representatives to the Board of Directors, may elect additional voting 
Directors by majority vote, such that there is always a minimum of five (5) voting 











Type Date Num Memo Name Item Qty

Alton NH, Town of
Invoice 07/20/2017 11519 Franklin 4 Sta... Alton NH, Town of Election ... 1
Invoice 12/07/2022 143513 Franklin 4 Sta... Alton NH, Town of Election ... 10

Total Alton NH, Town of 11

Amherst, NH Town of
Invoice 03/01/2017 11238 Franklin 4 Sta... Amherst, NH Town of Election ... 1
Invoice 03/21/2017 11269 Franklin 4 Sta... Amherst, NH Town of Election ... 3

Total Amherst, NH Town of 4

Antrim NH, City of
Invoice 03/30/2017 11285 Franklin 4 Sta... Antrim NH, City of Election ... 1
Invoice 01/01/2019 12999 Franklin 4 Sta... Antrim NH, City of Election ... 1
Invoice 04/15/2019 13278 Franklin 4 Sta... Antrim NH, City of Election ... 1
Invoice 04/15/2019 13278 Franklin 4 Sta... Antrim NH, City of Election ... 1

Total Antrim NH, City of 4

Bedford NH, Town of
Invoice 11/15/2017 11812 Franklin 4 Sta... Bedford NH, Town of Election ... 4

Total Bedford NH, Town of 4

Bennington NH, Town of
Invoice 11/16/2016 11070 Franklin 4 Sta... Bennington NH, Tow... Election ... 1
Invoice 06/05/2017 11409 Franklin 4 Sta... Bennington NH, Tow... Election ... 1
Invoice 04/30/2018 12158 Franklin 4 Sta... Bennington NH, Tow... Election ... 1
Invoice 04/29/2019 13327 Franklin 4 Sta... Bennington NH, Tow... Election ... 1

Total Bennington NH, Town of 4

Bristol NH, Town of
Invoice 03/29/2017 11283 Franklin 4 Sta... Bristol NH, Town of Election ... 2
Invoice 12/19/2017 11888 Franklin 4 Sta... Bristol NH, Town of Election ... 2

Total Bristol NH, Town of 4

Campton NH, Town of
Invoice 10/26/2016 11002 Franklin 4 Sta... Campton NH, Town of Election ... 2
Invoice 04/17/2017 11320 Franklin 4 Sta... Campton NH, Town of Election ... 4

Total Campton NH, Town of 6

Canterbury NH, Town of
Invoice 06/12/2018 12314 Franklin 4 Sta... Canterbury NH, Tow... Election ... 2

Total Canterbury NH, Town of 2

Charlestown NH, Town of
Invoice 01/03/2018 11897 Franklin 4 Sta... Charlestown NH, To... Election ... 1
Invoice 08/20/2018 12550 Franklin 4 Sta... Charlestown NH, To... Election ... 4
Invoice 11/17/2020 141210 Franklin 4 Sta... Charlestown NH, To... Election ... 2
Invoice 12/02/2020 141257 Franklin 4 Sta... Charlestown NH, To... Election ... 1

Total Charlestown NH, Town of 8

City of Lebanon, NH
Invoice 01/23/2017 11161 Franklin 4 Sta... City of Lebanon, NH Election ... 3

Total City of Lebanon, NH 3

Conway NH, Town of
Invoice 12/31/2016 11212 Franklin 4 Sta... Conway NH, Town of Election ... 1
Invoice 12/12/2017 11865 Franklin 4 Sta... Conway NH, Town of Election ... 3
Invoice 09/18/2019 13773 Franklin 4 Sta... Conway NH, Town of Election ... 3

Total Conway NH, Town of 7

Derry NH, Town Clerk
Invoice 06/25/2018 12358 Franklin 4 Sta... Derry NH, Town Clerk Election ... 9

8:55 AM Inclusion Solutions, LLC
04/11/23 Sales by Customer Detail
Accrual Basis All Transactions

Page 1



Type Date Num Memo Name Item Qty

Invoice 06/25/2018 12358 Franklin 4 Sta... Derry NH, Town Clerk Election ... 1
Invoice 06/25/2019 13517 Franklin 4 Sta... Derry NH, Town Clerk Election ... 5

Total Derry NH, Town Clerk 15

Dorchester NH, Town of
Invoice 01/01/2019 12928 Franklin 4 Sta... Dorchester NH, Tow... Election ... 1

Total Dorchester NH, Town of 1

Durham NH, City of
Invoice 01/31/2023 143595 Franklin 4 Sta... Durham NH, City of Election ... 1

Total Durham NH, City of 1

East Kingston NH, Town of
Invoice 12/04/2019 14080 Franklin 4 Sta... East Kingston NH, T... Election ... 1
Invoice 03/16/2020 14543 Franklin 4 Sta... East Kingston NH, T... Election ... 2
Invoice 01/23/2023 143583 Franklin 4 Sta... East Kingston NH, T... Election ... 1

Total East Kingston NH, Town of 4

Effingham NH, Town of
Invoice 10/02/2017 11687 Franklin 4 Sta... Effingham NH, Town... Election ... 1
Invoice 12/14/2017 11876 Franklin 4 Sta... Effingham NH, Town... Election ... 1
Invoice 08/07/2021 141912 Franklin 4 Sta... Effingham NH, Town... Election ... 1

Total Effingham NH, Town of 3

Franklin NH, Town of
Invoice 08/31/2017 11623 Franklin 4 Sta... Franklin NH, Town of Election ... 8
Invoice 06/26/2019 13518 Franklin 4 Sta... Franklin NH, Town of Election ... 1

Total Franklin NH, Town of 9

Freedom NH, Town of
Invoice 11/16/2020 141199 Franklin 4 Sta... Freedom NH, Town of Election ... 1

Total Freedom NH, Town of 1

Goffstown NH, Town of
Invoice 10/23/2019 13922 Franklin 4 Sta... Goffstown NH, Town... Election ... 8

Total Goffstown NH, Town of 8

Greenland NH, Town of
Invoice 09/14/2017 11649 Franklin 4 Sta... Greenland NH, Tow... Election ... 2
Invoice 09/14/2017 11649 Franklin 4 Sta... Greenland NH, Tow... Election ... 1

Total Greenland NH, Town of 3

Greenville NH, Town of
Invoice 10/31/2016 11028 Franklin 4 Sta... Greenville NH, Town... Election ... 3

Total Greenville NH, Town of 3

Groton NH, Town of
Invoice 10/02/2019 13828 Franklin 4 Sta... Groton NH, Town of Election ... 1
Invoice 11/04/2019 13950 Franklin 4 Sta... Groton NH, Town of Election ... 1
Credit Memo 01/10/2020 14190 Franklin 4 Sta... Groton NH, Town of Election ... -1
Invoice 01/01/2021 141358 Franklin 4 Sta... Groton NH, Town of Election ... 1

Total Groton NH, Town of 2

Hampton NH, Town of
Invoice 10/20/2016 10964 Franklin 4 Sta... Hampton NH, Town of Election ... 1

Total Hampton NH, Town of 1

Hill NH, Town of
Invoice 10/26/2020 16365 Franklin 4 Sta... Hill NH, Town of Election ... 2

8:55 AM Inclusion Solutions, LLC
04/11/23 Sales by Customer Detail
Accrual Basis All Transactions

Page 2



Type Date Num Memo Name Item Qty

Total Hill NH, Town of 2

Hollis NH, Town of
Invoice 09/21/2020 15696 Franklin 4 Sta... Hollis NH, Town of Election ... 5
Invoice 03/17/2022 142478 Franklin 4 Sta... Hollis NH, Town of Election ... 6

Total Hollis NH, Town of 11

Keene NH, City of
Invoice 10/26/2016 11001 Franklin 4 Sta... Keene NH, City of Election ... 1
Invoice 08/28/2017 11604 Franklin 4 Sta... Keene NH, City of Election ... 16
Invoice 09/03/2019 13723 Franklin 4 Sta... Keene NH, City of Election ... 30

Total Keene NH, City of 47

Kensington NH, Town of
Invoice 12/18/2019 14131 Franklin 4 Sta... Kensington NH, Tow... Election ... 3
Invoice 07/30/2020 15276 Franklin 4 Sta... Kensington NH, Tow... Election ... 3
Invoice 12/08/2020 141302 Franklin 4 Sta... Kensington NH, Tow... Election ... 3

Total Kensington NH, Town of 9

Lincoln NH, Town of
Invoice 12/13/2022 143526 Franklin 4 Sta... Lincoln NH, Town of Election ... 3

Total Lincoln NH, Town of 3

Litchfield NH, Town of
Invoice 12/07/2016 11101 Franklin 4 Sta... Litchfield NH, Town of Election ... 2
Invoice 01/23/2017 11164 Franklin 4 Sta... Litchfield NH, Town of Election ... 2
Invoice 01/04/2018 11904 Franklin 4 Sta... Litchfield NH, Town of Election ... 3
Invoice 10/24/2018 12846 Franklin 4 Sta... Litchfield NH, Town of Election ... 4
Invoice 09/18/2019 13772 Franklin 4 Sta... Litchfield NH, Town of Election ... 2

Total Litchfield NH, Town of 13

Lyman NH, Town of
Invoice 01/31/2019 13070 Franklin 4 Sta... Lyman NH, Town of Election ... 1

Total Lyman NH, Town of 1

Lyme NH, Town of
Invoice 10/26/2016 11011 Franklin 4 Sta... Lyme NH, Town of Election ... 2
Invoice 01/30/2017 11176 Franklin 4 Sta... Lyme NH, Town of Election ... 1

Total Lyme NH, Town of 3

Madison NH, Town of
Invoice 01/01/2019 12997 Franklin 4 Sta... Madison NH, Town of Election ... 3

Total Madison NH, Town of 3

Manchester NH, City of
Invoice 07/19/2018 12444 Franklin 4 Sta... Manchester NH, City... Election ... 13
Invoice 07/19/2018 12445 Franklin 4 Sta... Manchester NH, City... Election ... 14
Invoice 05/08/2019 13347 Franklin 4 Sta... Manchester NH, City... Election ... 25

Total Manchester NH, City of 52

Milan NH, Town of
Invoice 12/06/2022 143496 Franklin 4 Sta... Milan NH, Town of Election ... 3

Total Milan NH, Town of 3

Milton NH, Town of
Invoice 03/31/2017 11288 Franklin 4 Sta... Milton NH, Town of Election ... 1
Invoice 10/23/2017 11748 Franklin 4 Sta... Milton NH, Town of Election ... 1
Invoice 09/18/2019 13771 Franklin 4 Sta... Milton NH, Town of Election ... 1
Invoice 01/24/2022 142319 Franklin 4 Sta... Milton NH, Town of Election ... 1

Total Milton NH, Town of 4

8:55 AM Inclusion Solutions, LLC
04/11/23 Sales by Customer Detail
Accrual Basis All Transactions

Page 3



Type Date Num Memo Name Item Qty

Nashua NH, City of
Invoice 07/29/2016 10567 Franklin 4 Sta... Nashua NH, City of Election ... 9
Invoice 07/29/2016 10567 Franklin 4 Sta... Nashua NH, City of Election ... 41

Total Nashua NH, City of 50

Newmarket NH, Town of
Invoice 05/18/2016 10305 Franklin 4 Sta... Newmarket NH, Tow... Election ... 3
Invoice 07/25/2016 10546 Franklin 4 Sta... Newmarket NH, Tow... Election ... 3
Invoice 06/14/2017 11433 Franklin 4 Sta... Newmarket NH, Tow... Election ... 2
Invoice 04/16/2018 12120 Franklin 4 Sta... Newmarket NH, Tow... Election ... 3
Invoice 08/20/2018 12549 Franklin 4 Sta... Newmarket NH, Tow... Election ... 4
Invoice 08/13/2019 13655 Franklin 4 Sta... Newmarket NH, Tow... Election ... 8

Total Newmarket NH, Town of 23

Newton NH, Town of
Invoice 02/13/2023 143617 Franklin 4 Sta... Newton NH, Town of Election ... 7

Total Newton NH, Town of 7

Northumberland NH, Town of
Invoice 10/21/2020 16251 Franklin 4 Sta... Northumberland NH,... Election ... 1
Invoice 10/21/2020 16312 Franklin 4 Sta... Northumberland NH,... Election ... 1

Total Northumberland NH, Town of 2

Ossipee NH, Town of
Invoice 10/29/2018 12860 Franklin 4 Sta... Ossipee NH, Town of Election ... 1
Credit Memo 02/19/2019 13109 Franklin 4 Sta... Ossipee NH, Town of Election ... 0
Invoice 10/31/2019 13942 Franklin 4 Sta... Ossipee NH, Town of Election ... 1
Invoice 01/01/2020 14157 Franklin 4 Sta... Ossipee NH, Town of Election ... 2

Total Ossipee NH, Town of 4

Plainfield NH, Town Clerk
Invoice 12/19/2019 14137 Franklin 4 Sta... Plainfield NH, Town ... Election ... 4

Total Plainfield NH, Town Clerk 4

Portsmouth NH, City of
Invoice 07/25/2016 10545 Franklin 4 Sta... Portsmouth NH, City... Election ... 45
Invoice 03/06/2019 13147 Franklin 4 Sta... Portsmouth NH, City... Election ... 5

Total Portsmouth NH, City of 50

Rochester NH, City of
Invoice 07/18/2018 12440 Franklin 4 Sta... Rochester NH, City of Election ... 1
Invoice 01/14/2020 14203 Franklin 4 Sta... Rochester NH, City of Election ... 1
Invoice 08/03/2020 15293 Franklin 4 Sta... Rochester NH, City of Election ... 2
Invoice 07/20/2022 142946 Franklin 4 Sta... Rochester NH, City of Election ... 25

Total Rochester NH, City of 29

Rollinsford NH, Town of
Invoice 09/19/2017 11653 Franklin 4 Sta... Rollinsford NH, Tow... Election ... 1
Invoice 02/07/2018 11985 Franklin 4 Sta... Rollinsford NH, Tow... Election ... 1

Total Rollinsford NH, Town of 2

Sandwich NH, Town of
Invoice 04/12/2017 11312 Franklin 4 Sta... Sandwich NH, Town... Election ... 3

Total Sandwich NH, Town of 3

South Hampton NH, Town of
Invoice 10/30/2019 13937 Franklin 4 Sta... South Hampton NH,... Election ... 2

Total South Hampton NH, Town of 2

Stoddard NH, Town of

8:55 AM Inclusion Solutions, LLC
04/11/23 Sales by Customer Detail
Accrual Basis All Transactions

Page 4



Type Date Num Memo Name Item Qty

Invoice 11/03/2021 142156 Franklin 4 Sta... Stoddard NH, Town of Election ... 2

Total Stoddard NH, Town of 2

Sunapee NH, Town of
Invoice 08/11/2020 15340 Franklin 4 Sta... Sunapee NH, Town of Election ... 8

Total Sunapee NH, Town of 8

Swanzey NH, Town of
Invoice 02/16/2023 143629 Franklin 4 Sta... Swanzey NH, Town of Election ... 10

Total Swanzey NH, Town of 10

Webster NH, Town of
Invoice 10/31/2018 12879 Franklin 4 Sta... Webster NH, Town of Election ... 2
Invoice 11/19/2018 12897 Franklin 4 Sta... Webster NH, Town of Election ... 2
Credit Memo 12/31/2018 13004 Franklin 4 Sta... Webster NH, Town of Election ... -2

Total Webster NH, Town of 2

Windham NH, Town of
Invoice 07/18/2022 142922 Franklin 4 Sta... Windham NH, Town... Election ... 1
Invoice 08/08/2022 142990 Franklin 4 Sta... Windham NH, Town... Election ... 1
Invoice 12/31/2022 143543 Franklin 4 Sta... Windham NH, Town... Election ... 1

Total Windham NH, Town of 3

Wolfeboro NH, Town of
Invoice 07/01/2019 13529 Franklin 4 Sta... Wolfeboro NH, Tow... Election ... 1
Invoice 09/17/2019 13768 Franklin 4 Sta... Wolfeboro NH, Tow... Election ... 2
Invoice 11/18/2020 141221 Franklin 4 Sta... Wolfeboro NH, Tow... Election ... 4
Invoice 12/02/2021 142215 Franklin 4 Sta... Wolfeboro NH, Tow... Election ... 4
Invoice 09/01/2022 143097 Franklin 4 Sta... Wolfeboro NH, Tow... Election ... 4

Total Wolfeboro NH, Town of 15

Woodstock NH, Town of
Invoice 01/26/2020 14254 Franklin 4 Sta... Woodstock NH, Tow... Election ... 2

Total Woodstock NH, Town of 2

TOTAL 477

8:55 AM Inclusion Solutions, LLC
04/11/23 Sales by Customer Detail
Accrual Basis All Transactions

Page 5



On Thursday, April 6th, David Moore, Karen Richard, Seth Hickey, Mark Connors and Kerry 
Cronin met with Executive Director Carol Gulla of Transportation Assistance for Seacoast 
Citizens (TASC).  TASC is a public service agency that the Town funds in the amount of $3,000 
annually.  TASC matches people who need rides with volunteers who are willing to drive them.  
Last year, they provided 3,500 rides to residents of the 11 communities (including Stratham) they 
serve.  477 of those rides were for Stratham residents (13%).  There are approximately 45 
volunteer drivers; 15 of them are Stratham residents (33%).  Five of those 15 are very active 
volunteers with the program.  People who use the service must be at least 55 years old or be an 
adult with a disability.  There is no charge for the service.  The rides may be for any purpose 
(medical appointments, social activities, etc.) 
 



From: David Moore
To: Karen Richard
Subject: FW: ESRLAC Management Plan and Executive Summary
Date: Tuesday, April 11, 2023 4:25:01 PM
Attachments: ESRLAC_ManagementPlan_Update 2022_4.4.23 _.pdf

ESRLAC_2022ManagementPlan_Executive Summary.pdf

Karen,
 

Please put the executive summary (2 pages) on as an informational item for the April 17th agenda. 
Can you also include Nate’s e-mail transmittal as a cover to the summary?
 
Thank you Karen.
 
David M.
 

From: Nathan Merrill <njmerrill@comcast.net> 
Sent: Monday, April 10, 2023 8:26 PM
To: David Moore <dmoore@StrathamNH.gov>; Mark Connors <mconnors@StrathamNH.gov>
Cc: Allison Knab <allisonmknab@yahoo.com>; 'Eric Bahr' <ejbahr@comcast.net>
Subject: FW: ESRLAC Management Plan and Executive Summary
 
Hi David and Mark –
 
As you know, Eric Bahr and I represent Stratham on the Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory
Committee (ESRLAC).  We just completed a 10-year update of our Management Plan.  This is our
guiding document, like a Master Plan, for our Committee’s work and advocacy efforts.  I encourage
you to spend a few moments reading the 2-page Executive Summary (attached) and also take a look
at the Management Plan (also attached).
 
Please share these documents with the Conservation Commission and Planning Board.
 
I don’t think there is an ESRLAC page on the municipal website, but perhaps you could include a link
to these documents on the Conservation Commission’s page?  Whatever you think is appropriate is
fine with me.
 
If you would like to create a brief blurb to include in a future Select Board newsletter with links to
the documents, it would draw some attention to our work in the broader community.
 
We sincerely appreciate your support.  Let us know if you have any questions or if we can provide
any additional information.
 
Thank you –
 
Nate
 

mailto:dmoore@StrathamNH.gov
mailto:KRichard@StrathamNH.gov



1Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed 
Management Plan - Update 2022


December 31, 2022


Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 20222


Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


Prepared by the Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee 
with assistance from the Rockingham Planning Commission


Robert Scott, Commissioner, NH DES
Mark Sanborn, Assistant Commissioner, NH DES
Ted Diers, Watershed Management Administrator, NH DES


Publication date - December 31, 2022


NH DES, 29 Hazen Dr., Concord, NH 03302-0095


Exeter-Squamscott River, Exeter, NH.







3Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


The Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management and Plan was produced by the Exeter-
Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee with assistance from the Rockingham Planning 
Commission and was funded by the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services under 
Section 604(b) of the Clean Water Act.  


Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee 
Membership 2022


William Meserve, Chair – Newfields
Jessica Balukas - Brentwood
Eric Bahr – Stratham
Donald Clement – Exeter
Ellen Douglas – Fremont
Elizabeth Mello - Kingston
Nathan Merrill – Stratham
Donald Picard, Sandown
John Roderick – Fremont
Eric Turer - Brentwood


For more information, please contact ESRLAC via the Rockingham Planning Commission, 
603-778-0885, email@rpc-nh.org.  


For more information on the Rivers Management and Protection Program, visit the program’s 
website.







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 20224


Table of Contents
I. Purpose of the Management Plan Update 2022						      1
II. Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee 					    1
III. Mission of the Exeter - Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee, 	
     2022 – 2032												            2
IV. Overview of the Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed - 				  
     The Exeter-Squamscott River: One River, Two Names				    2
V. Existing Conditions in the Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed			  4
	 A. Description of the Exeter-Squamscott River					     4
	 B. Population and Land Use								        5
	 C. Water Quality											          7
	 D. Water Use and Water Quantity							       8
	 E. Aquatic Organism Passage								        10
	 F. Wetlands, Floodplains, and Meander Belts					     10
	 G. Fluvial Geomorphic Assessment							       11
	 H. Stormwater Management								        11
	 I. Nutrient Pollution										          12
	 J.  Municipal Water and Wastewater Systems 					     13
	 K. Climate Change, Adaptation, and Resiliency 					     14
	 L. Wildlife Habitat										          15
	 M.  Land Conservation									         16
	 N. Recreational Opportunities								        17
	 O. Historical and Cultural Resources							       18
	 P. State Owned Land										          18
VI. Issues of Concern											           18
VII. Action Plan 												           19
VIII. Priorities of the Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee 
        2022- 2032												            19
IX. Conclusion and Plan Implementation							       21
Appendices												            22
Maps														             34







1Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


I. Purpose of the Management Plan 
Update 2022
The Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan Update 2022 (Plan) was developed by 
members of the Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee (ESRLAC) with assistance from 
the Rockingham Planning Commission with funds provided by the New Hampshire Department 
of Environmental Services. The purpose of the Plan is to describe the priorities for ESRLAC in the 
coming decade and provide an overview of current conditions in the watershed, which comprises 
twelve towns in southeastern New Hampshire – Chester, Sandown, Danville, Raymond, Fremont, 
Kingston, Brentwood, East Kingston, Kensington, Exeter, Newfields, and Stratham.


II.	Exeter-Squamscott River Local 
Advisory Committee 
In 1995, several Exeter River watershed residents were successful in enrolling the Exeter River in 
New Hampshire’s Rivers Management and Protection Program (RMPP).  The Exeter River Local 
Advisory Committee, known as ERLAC, was established in 1996 to oversee the development 
and implementation of a river management plan. This first watershed management plan was 
completed in 1999 and ERLAC members continued to meet monthly to discuss land use activity 
in the watershed and design and implement many public education programs in cooperation 
with landowners, local Conservation Commissions, the Rockingham Planning Commission, state 
agencies, and organizations interested in protecting water quality and wildlife habitat in the river 
and promoting public recreation.


In 2011, ERLAC and the Rockingham Planning Commission worked with the towns of Newfields 
and Stratham and staff from the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services (NHDES) 
to enroll the Squamscott River into the RMPP. It had been a goal of ERLAC for several years to have 
the tidal portion of the river enrolled into the RMPP and to have towns within the entire watershed, 
fresh water, and salt water, working together to advocate for the river. The Squamscott River 
was enrolled in the RMPP in June 2011 and ERLAC changed its name to the Exeter-Squamscott 
River Local Advisory Committee, referred to as ESRLAC. Biographical information about ESRLAC 
members is included in the Appendix. 







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 20222


III. Mission of the Exeter-Squamscott 
River Local Advisory Committee, 
2022 – 2032


•  Improve water quality to meet federal and state standards.
•  Advocate for preservation and enhancement of aquatic, riparian, and upland habitats.
•  Promote responsible recreational use of the river and disseminate information about historical, 
    cultural, and environmental resources in the watershed.
•  Incorporate climate change science into ESRLAC’s work.
•  Highlight the priorities of ESRLAC and promote best management practices within the 
    watershed.
•  Encourage the adoption and enforcement of model land use regulations to protect water quality.


IV.	 Overview of the Exeter-
Squamscott River Watershed -
The Exeter-Squamscott River: One 
River, Two Names
The Exeter River rises from a group of spring-fed ponds in Chester, New Hampshire and flows 33 
miles to downtown Exeter where its name changes to the Squamscott River and becomes a tidal 
river and primary tributary to the Great Bay estuary. From Chester to Exeter, the freshwater of the 
Exeter River meanders through broad wetland complexes in Fremont and Danville, several short 
stretches of rapids in Brentwood, and through the forested canopy of the Phillips Exeter Academy 
forest in downtown Exeter. At Great Falls in downtown Exeter the river becomes tidal and its name 
changes to the Squamscott River. Flowing for nine miles, the Squamscott River makes a gradual 
transition from a freshwater ecosystem to a salty, estuarine ecosystem. The river enters the Great 
Bay Estuary nine miles from Great Falls, passing saltwater marshes in Stratham and Newfields. The 
tidal influence of Great Bay brings a different rhythm to the river, changing the river’s character 
greatly from the small spring at the headwaters.


The Exeter-Squamscott River watershed drains an area of approximately 128 square miles (81,726 
acres) and includes portions of 12 towns in southeastern New Hampshire.  Watershed communities 







3Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


include Chester, Raymond, Fremont, Danville, Sandown, Kingston, East Kingston, Kensington, 
Brentwood, Exeter, Newfields and Stratham. The total population for watershed communities in 
2020 was 72,479.


Relationship of the Exeter-Squamscott River to Great Bay - The Exeter-Squamscott River 
is a primary tributary to the Great Bay Estuary, a tidal estuary encompassing over 6,000 acres.  
Great Bay lies at the confluence of tidally driven salt water from the Gulf of Maine and fresh water 
from the Salmon Falls, Cocheco, Bellamy, Oyster, Lamprey, Squamscott, and Winnicut rivers. Before 
reaching Great Bay, seawater travels 15 miles inland through the Piscataqua River and Little Bay. 
This geographic configuration makes Great Bay one of the nation’s most recessed estuaries. The 
large quantities of water that move in and out of the Great Bay Estuary create some of the strongest 
tidal currents in North America. This tidal exchange structures the Great Bay ecosystem by affecting 
water quality, habitat extent, and species distributions. The rivers that flow into the Great Bay, 
including the Exeter-Squamscott River, drain a watershed that extends more than 1,000 square 
miles.  The quantity and quality of freshwater flowing from the Exeter River into the Squamscott 
River and into Great Bay plays a critical role in the health of the Great Bay Estuary ecosystem.


The Exeter-Squamscott River is one of two rivers that bring most of the fresh water into Great 
Bay. Water quality in the rivers impacts water quality in Great Bay. Pollution entering the Exeter-
Squamscott River and Great Bay from sources such as municipal wastewater treatment plants, 


Exeter River at Scribner Road bridge. Photo credit Nancy J Murray.







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 20224


septic systems, fertilized lawns, roadways, and parking lots has negative impacts on fish, shellfish, 
and eelgrass. Eelgrass in Great Bay and at the mouth of the Exeter-Squamscott River provides 
critical habitat for fish, shellfish, and migratory birds. Because waters in Great Bay are calmer than 
in the ocean and food such as plankton is plentiful, fish use the estuary as a nursery. Water quality 
in Great Bay directly impacts habitat for fish and shellfish and the food on which they rely.


In addition to ESRLAC, there are four additional river Local Advisory Committees working in 
the Great Bay watershed – Isinglass River Local Advisory Committee, Lamprey River Advisory 
Committee, Oyster River Local Advisory Committee, and the Cocheco River Local Advisory 
Committee.


V.	Existing Conditions in the Exeter-
Squamscott River Watershed


The Exeter-Squamscott River watershed is characteristic of 
a “dendritic” or branching, tree-like drainage pattern, with 
smaller streams and tributaries feeding into the river’s main 
channel. These tributary streams are critically important 
to the river’s water quality and quantity. The watershed 
features several tributary streams, including Wason Brook 
and Towle Brook in Chester, Fordway Brook in Raymond, 
the Phillips/Lily Pond drainage in Sandown, the Little River 
in Brentwood and Exeter, another Little River in Kingston, 
Dudley/Bloody Brook in Exeter and Brentwood, and Great 
Brook in Kensington and Exeter. Important freshwater 
tributaries to the tidal Squamscott River include Sloan’s 
Brook, Rocky Brook, Norris Brook, Dearborn Brook, and 
Wheelwright Creek in Exeter, Parting Brook in Newfields, 
and Mill Brook and Jewell Hill Brook in Stratham. Ponds 
are not a dominant feature of the landscape in the Exeter-
Squamscott River watershed. Phillips Pond in Sandown 
is the largest pond at 85 acres. The remaining 12 named 
ponds are relatively small and scattered throughout the 
watershed, each having acreages of 20 acres or less.


A. Description of the Exeter-
Squamscott River


Exeter River at Pickpocket Dam, 
Brentwood. Photo credit Don Clement.







5Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


The Exeter-Squamscott River watershed includes some of the fastest growing communities in New 
Hampshire. Land use in the watershed has changed since the first watershed management plan 
was completed in 1999, with more homes and retail and industrial sites constructed, resulting in an 
increase in impervious surfaces and wildlife habitat fragmentation as well as more septic systems 
and drinking water wells. 


Table 1 illustrates population growth in watershed municipalities from 1970 to 2020.  Many towns 
in the watershed have seen dramatic rises in population during this time, a reflection of growth and 
development that occurred across southern New Hampshire in the second half of the last century. 
Exeter leads the percentage increase in population growth in the watershed over the past decade, 
with a 12.2% increase.


B. Population and Land Use


Town 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020 % 
Change 
1970-
2010


% 
Change
2000-
2010


% 
Change 
2010-
2020


Chester 1,382 2,006 2,691 3,792 4,768 5,232 245.0% 25.7% 9.7%
Raymond 3,003 5,453 8,713 9,674 10,138 10,684 237.5% 4.8% 5.4%
Fremont 993 1,333 2,576 3,510 4,283 4,712 331.3% 22.0% 10.0%
Danville 974 1,318 2,534 4,023 4,387 4,588 350.4% 9.5% 4.6%
Sandown 741 2,057 4,060 5,143 5,986 6,548 695.7% 16.4% 9.4%
East 


Kingston
838 1,135 1,352 1,784 2,357 2,441 181.3% 32.1% 3.6%


Kingston 2,882 4,111 5,591 5,862 6,025 6,202 109.0% 2.8% 2.9%
Kensington 1,044 1,322 1,631 1,893 2,124 2,095 103.4% 12.2% -1.4%
Brentwood 1,468 2,004 2,590 3,197 4,486 4,490 205.6% 40.3% .08%
Exeter 8,892 11,024 12,481 14,058 14,306 16,049 60.9% 1.8% 12.2%
Stratham 1,512 2,507 4,955 6,355 7,255 7,669 379.8% 14.2 5.7%
Newfields 843 817 888 1,551 1,680 1,769 99.3% 8.3% 5.3%
TOTAL 31,665 35,087 50,062 60,842 67,795 72,479 114.1% 11.4% 6.9%
Rockingham 


County
138,951 190,345 245,845 277,359 295,223 314,176 112.5% 6.4% 6.4%


New 


Hampshire
737,681 920,610 1,109,252 1,235,786 1,316,470 1,377,529 78.5% 6.5% 4.6%


Table 1
Municipal Populations 1970-2020
Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee Municipalities
Source: US Census Bureau







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 20226


Impervious Surface - With population growth and development comes an increase in 
impervious surfaces in the watershed.  Impervious surfaces such as paved roads, parking lots, and 
buildings prevent snowmelt and rainwater from soaking into the ground, sending pollutants from 
these surfaces into streams and rivers. Studies conducted in other regions of the country have 
demonstrated water quality deterioration when impervious surfaces cover greater than 10% of 
the watershed area (Center for Watershed Protection, 2003). In 2005, a study in New Hampshire 
demonstrated the percent of impervious surface in a watershed can be used as indicators of water 
quality and aquatic life health (Deacon et al., 2005). Sampling sites in the Exeter-Squamscott River 
watershed were used in this study. 


Table 2 depicts the percentage of imperious surface in towns in the watershed, as reported by the 
Piscataqua Region Estuaries Partnership (PREP). Exeter and Stratham have the highest estimated 
percentages of impervious surface in the watershed, with 9.8% and 9.1%, respectively. Land use in 
the watershed is primarily residential, with commercial and industrial centered in Exeter.


Town 2010 2015
Chester 3.2% 3.4%
Raymond 6.1% 6.3%
Fremont 3.7% 3.9%
Danville 5.3% 5.4%
Sandown 5.3% 5.6%
East Kingston 4.2% 4.3%
Kingston 6.1% 6.3%
Kensington 3.7% 3.8%
Brentwood 5.9% 6.3%
Exeter 9.6% 9.8%
Stratham 8.8% 9.1%
Newfields 4.6% 4.7%
Watershed 5.0% 5.1%


Table 2
Percentage of Impervious Surface
Source: Piscataqua Region Estuaries 
Partnership (PREP)


Land Use Regulations - Municipalities 
in the watershed have enacted many 
different types of land use regulations 
designed to protect water quality and 
maintain water quantity. These regulations 
include stormwater management 
requirements for erosion control and 
drainage, aquifer protection ordinances 
regulating the types of land use activities 
that can occur over groundwater aquifers, 
wellhead protection regulations to protect 
areas around municipal and community 
wells, prohibition of development in 
wetlands and floodplains, septic system 
requirements more stringent than state 
standards, standards for excavation and 
reclamation, and regulations establishing 
development setbacks from wetlands and 
surface waters. ESRLAC is interested in 
working with municipalities to strengthen 
stormwater management and wetland and 
shoreland buffer regulations.







7Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


In 2020, the Piscataqua Region Estuaries Partnership (PREP) completed an assessment of land 
use regulations and policies in the 52 communities in PREP’s coastal watershed region, including 
the 12 towns in the Exeter-Squamscott River watershed. The assessment highlighted the need 
to increase protection of water quality and natural resources and to assess threats from climate 
change. PREP has drafted recommended actions for every community in the watershed. The 
assessments, recommended actions, and supporting data may be found at PREP’s website. 


ESRLAC supports the following municipal actions recommended by PREP:


    •  Increase naturally vegetated buffers along surface waters to a minimum of 100 feet – 
        NH Drinking Water Quality Buffer Model Ordinance
    •  Increase setback requirements for septic systems and primary structures to at least 100 feet 
        from surface waters
    •  Adopt regulations preventing the application of fertilizers within 100 feet of all surface waters
    •  Adopt model stormwater management regulations – 
        Model Stormwater Standards for Coastal Watershed Communities
    •   Adopt model floodplain management regulations – NH Model Floodplain Ordinance
    •  Complete a climate vulnerability assessment
    •  Incorporate climate science into decision making (resilient land use guide, coming soon)
    •  Conserve land


Research and data on water quality in the Exeter-Squamscott River is, or has been, collected 
by several organizations, including the Town of Exeter, NHDES, ESRLAC members and other 
volunteers participating in the State’s Volunteer River Assessment Program, the Great Bay National 
Estuarine Research Reserve, the Piscataqua Region Estuaries Partnership, and the University of New 
Hampshire. Since 1991, the surface waters of New Hampshire have been classified by the state 
legislature (RSA 485-A:8) as either Class A or Class B.  Class A waters are of the highest quality and 
considered optimal for use as water supplies after adequate treatment. Sewage discharges are 
prohibited in these waterbodies. Class B waters are considered acceptable for fishing, swimming, 
and other recreational purposes, and for use as water supplies after adequate treatment has been 
applied. The State has designated the Exeter-Squamscott River as Class B.
The NHDES Surface Water Quality Assessment Program produces two surface water quality 
documents every two years, the “305(b) Report” and the “303(d) List”. As the two documents 
use the same data, the 305(b) Report and 303(d) List were combined into one Integrated Report 
starting in 2002. The Integrated Report describes the quality of New Hampshire’s surface waters 
and an analysis of the extent to which all such waters provide for the protection and propagation of 
a balanced population of shellfish, fish, and wildlife, and allow recreational activities in and on the 
water.


C. Water Quality







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 20228


NHDES has identified several issues impacting water quality in the Exeter-Squamscott River, 
resulting in the river being placed on the State’s listing of impaired waters. Impairments include:


•  Low dissolved oxygen levels
•  Mercury from atmospheric deposition and sources unknown
•  Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) from sources unknown
•  Chlorophyll-a from sources unknown
•  Enterococcus and Escherichia coli (E. coli) from combined sewer overflows, nonpoint sources, 
    and wet weather discharges 
•  Nitrogen from sources unknown
•  Dioxin from sources unknown


The NHDES Surface Water Quality Assessment Viewer is a mapping tool that enables users to 
access water quality assessment data and reports, see where sampling data has been collected, 
and view impaired waters. ESRLAC recommends municipal officials use the mapping tool to 
identify water quality improvement and protection projects.


The Town of Exeter participates in the State’s Volunteer River Assessment Program (VRAP). VRAP is 
administered by NHDES and relies on volunteers trained to conduct on-site water quality testing. 
NHDES issues annual water quality reports based on testing results. Water quality data for the 
Exeter River in 2021 was collected at several locations and indicates water quality is meeting the 
state’s surface water quality standards. Reports are available on the Program website. 


One of the greatest changes to the river since ESRLAC’s 2015 Management Plan Update was 
the removal of the Great Dam on the Exeter River in downtown Exeter in 2016. The former dam 
presented an obstacle to fish passage and had been identified as structurally deficient by the 
NHDES Dam Bureau. Following the completion of a feasibility study in 2013, voters in the Town 
of Exeter determined that the complete removal of the Great Dam was the preferred option 
for many reasons, including reducing upstream flooding, eliminating a barrier to fish passage, 
and improving water quality by restoring natural river flow. The project involved the removal of 
the existing dam structure and associated fish ladder and weir, restoration, and enhancement 
of approximately 200 linear feet of stream channel upstream of the former dam location, and 
accessory work to mitigate impacts to nearby structures and water intakes. Restoration of the river’s 
natural flow conditions has been deemed successful by many stakeholders. A list of the eighty-one 
active dams in the watershed is included in the Appendix.


The Exeter River and its watershed serve as a water supply for the Town of Exeter’s municipal water 
system.  The Town’s withdraws approximately 1.5 million gallons per day from the Exeter River and 
also relies on Dearborn Brook and four groundwater wells. The Town of Newfields also operates a 


D. Water Use and Water Quantity







9Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


municipal water system, relying on a groundwater well. Most watershed residents rely on private 
groundwater wells for drinking water.


At the present time the water supply in the watershed appears to be adequate for consumptive 
use and to provide adequate wildlife habitat. However, the region experienced severe drought 
conditions during late summer 2022, and for 90 weeks, beginning on June 23, 2020, and ending 
on March 8, 2022. In response to drought, several towns in the watershed enact either mandatory 
or voluntary water use restrictions. NHDES Dam Bureau records identify 212 dams along the river 
and its tributaries, with 82 of those dams listed as active. A list of active dams is included in the 
Appendix.


NHDES has informed ESRLAC that the Exeter River is on the list for an Instream Flow Study. The 
NHDES Instream Flow Program develops river-specific criteria for protecting stream flow and 
water management plans to implement the criteria. The purpose of the Program is to ensure rivers 
continue to flow freely despite human influences such as irrigation, drinking water, or land use 
changes. Registered water users will be required to take steps to prevent water loss and waste, and 
during periods of low flow users will be required to reduce water withdrawals.  An Instream Flow 
Study of the Exeter River will include calculations of river flow conditions which protect aquatic 
organisms. The management plan will describe how water users will operate to satisfy their water 
needs while maintaining the protected flow conditions. ESRLAC will be active participants in the 
Instream Flow Study.


Exeter River, Exeter, NH.







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 202210


E. Aquatic Organism Passage
Aquatic organism passage identifies whether aquatic animals such as fish, turtles, or amphibians 
can move through culverts and other forms of stream crossings without restrictions. Restrictions 
to passage include a large vertical drop between the outlet and the stream (known as a perched 
culvert), water in the crossing that is either too shallow or too fast, physical barriers that block the 
crossing inlet or outlet, and a lack of natural substrate in the crossing. Development proposals 
within the river corridor that require NHDES approval are reviewed by ESRLAC, and the Committee 
continues to assess the impacts of these proposals on aquatic organism passage.


Table 3 lists the aquatic connectivity scores for passages along the river. Reduced passage is the 
predominant score, with 45.5%. Passages are found throughout the watershed and are identified 
on the Aquatic Organism Passage Map in the Appendix.


Aquatic Connectivity Score Number of sites Percentage
Full Passage 65 17.2%
Passage Only for Adult Trout 0 0.0%
Reduced Passage 172 45.5%
No Passage 89 23.6%
Unable to Score 52 13.7%
Total Passages 378 100%


Table 3
Aquatic Organism Passage
Source: NHDES


Wetlands are defined by local, state, and federal regulations as areas that are inundated or 
saturated by surface water or groundwater at a frequency and duration sufficient to support 
vegetation adapted for life in saturated soil conditions. Most wetlands in the watershed are present 
because the soil is poorly drained, or the water table is close to the surface. 


The Exeter-Squamscott River watershed includes several types of wetlands, including forested 
wetlands, scrub-shrub wetlands, bogs, and marshes. Wetlands encompass 12,075 acres (13.7%) 
in the watershed and their protection is a priority for ESRLAC as wetlands protect water quality 
by acting as filters for pollutants, provide erosion control, floodwater storage, wildlife habitat, and 
other benefits. Towns in the watershed that have identified and designated high quality wetlands 
as prime wetlands per NH RSA 482-A:15 include Brentwood, Chester, Exeter, Fremont, Kingston, 
Newfields, and Sandown.


F. Wetlands, Floodplains, and Meander Belts







11Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


Floodplains are areas of low-lying ground adjacent to rivers and streams that are inundated with 
water during and after periods of heavy precipitation. Retaining a floodplain in its natural state 
is the most cost-effective way of reducing flood damage. Undeveloped, vegetated floodplains 
trap sediments and pollution, reduce erosion, and store floodwaters. There are 10,013 (12.2%) 
acres of floodplain in the Exeter-Squamscott River watershed. Storage of floodwater becomes 
increasingly important as the climate changes and produces more intense precipitation events. 
Wetland and floodplain locations for every community in the watershed are included in maps on 
the Rockingham Planning Commission website.


A meander belt is the zone within a river or stream periodically shifts its channel. A meander is 
a series of sinuous curves in a river channel that is produced as the river erodes the sediments 
of an outer bank and deposits sediments on an inner bank. The result of this coupled erosion 
and sedimentation is the formation of a sinuous course as the river channel migrates back and 
forth across the axis of a floodplain. Preventing development in the floodplain enables a river to 
meander naturally, managing the energy of the water and improving resiliency to flooding. ESRLAC 
monitors proposed development along the river channel to assess threats to the meander belt.


G. Fluvial Geomorphic Assessment
In 2010, NHDES worked with ESRLAC to complete the Exeter River Geomorphic Assessment and 
Watershed-Based Plans to document how the river and adjacent land interact over time through 
different climate conditions. The Plan provides site-specific management recommendations 
for protecting water quality and wildlife habitat by reducing threats from flooding, erosion, and 
river channel adjustments. Land use activities such as dredging, filling, mining, and earth moving 
adjacent to the river channel prose threats to channel integrity. ESRLAC is not aware of any of 
these activities, historical or current, in the river corridor that could cause a disturbance to the river 
system.


Several projects identified in the Plan have been used successfully by NHDES and watershed 
municipalities to secure grant funding for infrastructure projects in the watershed, including 
replacing undersized culverts in in Sandown, replacing the Danville-Sandown bridge, and restoring 
riparian buffers in Brentwood. ESRLAC recommends municipal officials consult the Plan to identify 
climate resilience and hazard mitigation projects. The Plans are on file with the NHDES Watershed 
Assistance Section and are available on request.


H. Stormwater Management
Working with landowners, developers, and watershed communities to manage stormwater and 
other nonpoint sources of pollution is a priority for ESRLAC. The Committee reviews all shoreland, 
wetland, and alteration of terrain permit applications submitted for dredging, filling, and earth 
moving in the river corridor and provides comments to NHDES. As it flows over the landscape, 







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 202212


stormwater runoff collects and transports pollutants including sediment and organic matter, 
pet waste, automotive fluids, road salt, pesticides and fertilizers, and litter. An essential part of 
stormwater management is maintaining the natural hydrology of a site to the maximum extent 
possible. This is accomplished by slowing down the flow of stormwater to increase infiltration into 
the ground and treating stormwater on site rather than sending it off site to rivers and streams. 
Buffers of natural vegetation around rivers, streams, wetlands, lakes, and ponds are considered 
among the most effective stormwater management practices. Stormwater management is 
necessary during all stages of site development including site planning and design, design review, 
construction, and post-construction permanent controls. Approval of stormwater management 
plans by local officials should include requirements for regular monitoring of stormwater 
infrastructure post construction.


Polluted stormwater runoff is frequently transported through municipal separate storm sewer 
systems (MS4) to where it is discharged, untreated, into local water bodies. In response, the US 
EPA has created the MS4 General Permit Program to reduce pollution caused by stormwater. 
MS4 permits apply to several different areas – municipalities in urbanized areas, as defined by the 
Census Bureau; larger federal and state-owned properties; and institutions such as hospitals and 
universities. The most recent MS4 permit for New Hampshire communities was issued in January 
2017. All communities in the Exeter-Squamscott River watershed except Newfields and Kensington 
are obligated to meet the 2017 MS4 permit requirements. These requirements include developing 
a Stormwater Management Program, submitting annual reports, annual training for town staff, 
public education and more. ESRLAC is interested in partnering with municipalities.


I. Nutrient Pollution


Nutrient pollution is the process where too many nutrients, mainly nitrogen and phosphorus, enter 
waterbodies and can act like fertilizer, causing excessive growth of plants and algae. Nutrients can 
come from a variety of different sources. They can occur naturally because of weathering of rocks 
and soil in the watershed and degradation of plant material, and they can come from the ocean 
due to the mixing of water currents. Of greatest concern are the nutrients related to human activity, 
including wastewater treatment plants, septic systems, farmland, lawns and gardens, and pet and 
wildlife waste. Pollution from nutrients, referred to as nutrient loading, leads to ecological changes 
that decrease the biotic diversity of the ecosystem.


Projects and plans researching and documenting nutrient loading include:


•  Great Bay Nitrogen Nonpoint Source Study – Prepared by NHDES in 2014. The Study found 
68% of the nitrogen that ends up in the Great Bay Estuary originates from nonpoint sources 
spread across the Great Bay watershed; the remainder derives from direct discharges of 
municipal wastewater treatment facilities. Nonpoint sources of nitrogen consist of atmospheric 







13Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


disposition, fertilizers, human waste disposed into septic systems, and animal waste.


•  Water Integration for Squamscott-Exeter Preliminary Integrate Plan (WISE) – Prepared by 
Geosyntec Consultants in 2015. The Plan provides recommendations to the towns of Exeter, 
Stratham, and Newfields for managing permits for wastewater and stormwater using EPA’s 
Integrated Planning approach. Integrated Planning allows towns to work together to reduce 
nutrient loading. An important finding of the Plan is the estimation that 48% of the total nitrogen 
load entering Great Bay from the Exeter-Squamscott River originates from towns upstream of 
Exeter.


•  Lincoln Street Subwatershed (Exeter) Nutrient Control Strategies – Prepared by Rockingham 
Planning Commission and Waterstone Engineering in 2018. This study builds off WISE and 
identifies nitrogen loads in the subwatershed and makes recommendations for nutrient 
management and climate change adaptation infrastructure.


•  NH Nonpoint Source Management Program Plan 2020-2024 – Prepared by NHDES in 2019. 
Nonpoint pollution contributes to 90% of the water pollution in New Hampshire. The Plan sets 
priorities for addressing nonpoint source pollution and identifies long-term goals, specific 
actions, and measurable milestones for protecting and restoring waters and watersheds. 


•  Pollutant Tracking and Accounting Project (PTAP) – Coordinated by NHDES and the UNH 
Stormwater Center, PTAP is a regional database designed for communities that are subject to 
the Great Bay Total Nitrogen Permit issued by EPA. Communities in the watershed subject to this 
permit are Epping, Exeter, Newfields, and Newmarket. PTAP enables these communities to track 
reductions and additions of pollutants such as nitrogen, phosphorus, and sediment as required 
by regulations or through non-regulatory pollution management activities. Exeter and Newfields 
are participating in PTAP because they operate wastewater treatment plants.


J.  Municipal Water and Wastewater Systems 


The Exeter River serves as the primary water supply source for the Town of Exeter’s municipal water 
system. Water from the Exeter River is pumped to the Town’s water treatment plant.  The Town of 
Exeter also uses water from the Exeter Reservoir, which holds water flowing from Dearborn Brook 
in Exeter and Skinner Springs in Stratham, and three groundwater wells. The Town of Newfields 
also operates a municipal water system, relying on a groundwater well. Most watershed residents 
rely on private groundwater wells for drinking water.


The towns of Exeter and Newfields operate wastewater treatment plants that discharge effluent to 
the Squamscott River.  Exeter’s treatment plant discharges up to 4 million gallons of treated effluent 
per day. In 2020, the Exeter wastewater treatment plant was upgraded from a lagoon treatment 







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 202214


facility to a 4-stage process that removes nitrogen. The Town is subject to a National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permit that regulates what can be discharged into the 
Squamscott River. The Town of Newfields operates a small wastewater treatment plant discharging 
approximately 50,000 gallons of treated effluent per day into the Squamscott River. The plant has a 
treatment capacity of 117,000 gallons per day. 


It is important to note that most watershed residences and businesses rely on individual septic 
systems for on-site treatment of wastewater. Educating septic system users about proper 
maintenance of septic systems is needed to help improve and protect water quality in the 
watershed.


K. Climate Change, Adaptation, and Resiliency 
ESRLAC communities are addressing the impacts of climate change in a variety of ways, particularly 
the increase in flooding and storm intensity. Preparations to make communities more resilient 
include climate vulnerability and risk assessments, prioritization of infrastructure projects, and 
funding and allocation of both financial and human resources. Mitigation and adaptation will 
require creativity, compromise, and collaboration across all levels of government, the private 
sector, and residents. Climate change, adaptation, and resiliency planning in ESRLAC communities 
include: 


•  New Hampshire Climate Assessment – Prepared in 2022. Provides a statewide update to 
the 2014 NH Climate Assessment, including new analysis of historical records, drought, and 
projected climate change between 2010-2099. 


•  Climate Risk in the Seacoast (C-RiSe) Reports for the Towns of Exeter, Stratham, and Newfields 
– Prepared by the Rockingham Planning Commission in 2015, the reports provide municipalities 
with maps and assessments of flood impacts to road and transportation assets, critical facilities, 
infrastructure, and natural resources associated with projected increases in storm surge, sea 
levels, and precipitation. The reports make recommendations for regulatory standards, planning 
and policy, and community outreach. 


•  Climate Adaptation Plan for Exeter (CAPE) – Prepared in 2015. The project modeled potential 
future flooding impacts for 10-, 25-, and 100-year storm events, with and without storm surge, on 
roadways, stormwater management infrastructure, and tidal marshes in the Squamscott River. 


•  NH Coastal Flood Risk Summary Part I – Prepared by NHDES in 2018. The summary provides 
the latest science related to coastal flood risks and includes updated projections of relative sea-
level rise, coastal storms, groundwater rise, and precipitation and freshwater flooding. 







15Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


•  NH Coastal Flood Risk Summary Part II – Prepared by NHDES in 2020. The summary provides 
guidance on how to incorporate updated coastal flood risk projections into land use and land 
development planning, regulations, and other decision-making projects.


•  Resilient Land Use Guide for NH – Prepared by the Rockingham Planning Commission in 2022. 
The Guide provides coastal municipalities with innovative regulations and land development 
standards, natural resource protection measures and planning tools, and examples of 
implementation options and strategies to improve resiliency to climate change.


•  Municipal Natural Hazard Mitigation Plans – FEMA requires every municipality in the country to 
develop and maintain natural hazard mitigation plans. These plans identify natural hazards that 
impact communities, including flooding, drought, and climate change, and include prioritized 
actions plans for mitigating the impacts of these hazards. Plans are available on municipal 
websites.


L. Wildlife Habitat
The Exeter-Squamscott River watershed 
supports a variety of landscapes including 
wetlands, forests, ponds, streams, vernal 
pools, tidal marshes, and tidal mud flats. 
These different environments provide habitat 
for many species of flora and fauna. The 
watershed falls within the Gulf of Maine 
Coastal Plain biophysical region which is 
dominated by hardwood and transitional 
forests. Large tracts of undeveloped land 
provide important habitat for bobcat, black 
bear, and forest dwelling birds. The watershed 
also provides habitat for several species 
of concern in New Hampshire including 
Blanding’s turtles, New England cottontail, 
and the blue spotted salamander. The Exeter-
Squamscott River is both a cold and warm 
water fishery that provides habitat for over 
seventeen resident species including brook 
trout, small and large mouth bass, yellow 
perch, and chain pickerel. The river also serves 
as a spawning area for alewife and blueback 
herring.


Egrets on the Little River, a tributary of the 
Exeter River. Photo credit Donna Jensen.







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 202216


Conservation planning to assess and protect wildlife habitat in the watershed relies on local and 
regional planning efforts, including: 


•  New Hampshire Wildlife Action Plan – Prepared by NH Fish and Game in 2015. The Plan is a 
blueprint for conserving Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN) and their habitats. New 
Hampshire’s Plan identifies 169 SGCN and focuses on the 27 habitats that support these species. 
The Exeter-Squamscott River watershed includes many different habitats, including salt marsh, 
peatland, marsh and shrub wetland, many types of forests, and grassland. These habitats are 
home to many species of wildlife. The Plan provides town-specific maps of habitat locations and 
lists of wildlife species.


•  New Hampshire’s Coastal Watershed Conservation Plan, 2021 Update – Prepared by The 
Nature Conservancy. The Plan identifies key conservation priorities across the lands in New 
Hampshire, Maine, and Massachusetts that drain to the Atlantic Ocean via the Piscataqua River 
and through the Hampton-Seabrook Estuary. Maps identify Coastal Conservation Focus Areas 
and Coastal Priority Agricultural Resources, including conservation for climate change mitigation. 
Data is included at the sub-watershed scale, including the Exeter-Squamscott River watershed, 
with 39% of the Exeter-Squamscott River watershed included in the Coastal Conservation Focus 
Area. Twelve percent of these focus area lands are conserved. Coastal Priority Agricultural 
Resources represent 6% of the sub-watershed, and 2% of these lands are conserved. 


M.  Land Conservation
Protection of open space along the Exeter-Squamscott River corridor is a high priority for 
communities in the watershed and ESRLAC, and a high priority for several land conservation 
organizations working in the region, including the Southeast Land Trust of New Hampshire and the 
Great Bay Resource Protection Partnership. Several watershed communities created bonds in the 
early 2000s to fund land conservation and ESRLAC believes there is a need for this funding to be 
restored to ensure additional conservation. Municipal Conservation Commissions and Open Space 
Committees have worked with many land conservation organizations and hundreds of landowners 
in ESRLAC member communities. 


Table 4 highlights the three percent increase in conserved land between 2012 and 2021, with an 
increase of over four percent in acres conserved in the watershed during this period, conserving 
approximately 15,333 acres from development, approximately 19.57% of the land in the 
watershed. 







17Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


Town Acres Conserved in 
Watershed 2012


Acres Conserved
In Watershed 2021


Acres in Watershed


Brentwood 2,725 3,183 10,051
Chester 850 1,188 12,561
Danville 141 226 1,995
East Kingston 551 548 3,237
Exeter 2,855 3,215 10,977
Fremont 599 1,080 8,143
Kensington 1,378 1,713 4,645
Kingston 651 839 3,706
Newfields 238 246 2,034
Raymond 545 766 6,666
Sandown 680 912 7,617
Stratham 1,222 1,462 6,704
Total Acres in Watershed 78,336
Total Acres Conserved 12,435 15,333
Percent Conserved Land 15.2% 19.57%


Table 4
Conservation Land in the Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory 
Committee Municipalities
Source: GRANIT, 2012 and 2021


N. Recreational Opportunities


Recreational opportunities abound 
access the Exeter-Squamscott River 
watershed but public access points to 
the river are very limited. Recreational 
activities include fresh and saltwater 
fishing, hunting, boating, walking, and 
running, biking, cross country skiing, 
snowmobiling, and bird and wildlife 
watching. A list of access sites is included 
in the Appendix and on the Public 
Recreation Access map.


Kayak event on the Exeter River.







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 202218


The watershed is rich in American history, dating to the original European settlement of Exeter in 
1638 and extending back into pre-history with the earliest Native American sites dating back 9,000 
years. Among these resources are building, sites, documents, and institutions that trace the history 
of the region and nation. A definitive history of land use on and along the Exeter-Squamscott River 
was written by author and Exeter native Olive Tardiff. ESRLAC partnered with the Southeast Land 
Trust of New Hampshire to republish the book and add additional photos. Copies of the book are 
available from ESRLAC. Additional information is available in the Historic Resources Chapter of the 
Regional Master Plan, developed by the Rockingham Planning Commission in 2015.


P. State Owned Land


The NH Department of Transportation (DOT) holds most of the state-owned land in the Exeter-
Squamscott River watershed, including highways and bridges. DOT also owns patrol sheds in 
Chester, Epping, Kingston, and Newfields. DOT and the NH Department of Natural and Cultural 
Resources own the Rockingham Recreational Trail, which runs through the watershed communities 
of Raymond, Sandown, Danville, Fremont, and Newfields. The NH Department of Agriculture, 
Markets, and Food holds an agricultural conservation easement on the Stevens property located 
in Brentwood and Kingston.  The Rockingham Recreational Trail and the Stevens property provide 
important passive recreational opportunities, including walking, hiking, hunting, and wildlife 
watching, and enhance the rural characteristics of the watershed. A list of state-owned lands in the 
watershed is included in the Appendix.


VI. Issues of Concern
Since 1996, ESRLAC has acted as a volunteer steward of the river, working with landowners, 
developers, and regulatory agencies to protect the river from the impacts of development and 
a changing climate. The Committee has developed the following list of issues of concern for the 
river:


•  Manage stormwater and minimize impervious surfaces to protect water quality.
•  Reduce nutrient pollution from lawn fertilizer, septic systems, and wastewater treatment plants.
•  Incorporate the projected impacts of climate change into the design of land development 
    proposals.


ESRLAC’s action plan and priorities reflect these issues of concern.


O. Historical and Cultural Resources







19Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


VII. Action Plan 
The Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee (ESRLAC) supports the sustainable 
management of the Exeter-Squamscott River watershed. We define sustainable watershed 
management as actions that restore natural hydrologic variability and riverine and riparian habitats, 
maintain acceptable water quality and quantity, and advance land stewardship and low impact 
development practices. 


To that end, ESRLAC will conduct the following work:


•  Communicate with watershed Planning Boards and Conservation Commissions to review this 
    Management Plan Update, discuss ESRLAC priorities, and identify opportunities for partnership.
•  Continue to review NHDES permit applications related to proposed development within the 
     river corridor and provide comments on the permit applications to NHDES, permit applicants, 
     and Conservation Commissions.
•  Continue to recruit Committee members from all twelve watershed communities.
•  Share the Management Plan with legislators in the watershed.
•  Communicate with neighboring River Advisory Committees to identify opportunities for 
    collaboration.
•  Continue to use social media and river-related events to promote ESRLAC priorities.
•  Develop and promote a checklist of best management practices for the watershed to be 
    shared with developers and watershed communities.
•  Review our priorities annually to identify additional work.


VIII. Priorities of the Exeter-
Squamscott River Local Advisory 
In addition to the work listed above, ESRLAC will work with landowners, towns, public agencies, 
organizations, and businesses that advance the following priorities and activities: 


Priority: Improve water quality and water quantity to meet federal and state standards. Activities 
that advance this priority include: 


•  Support traditional land uses and stewardship such as farming and forestry following Best 
    Management Practices.
•  Promote participation in the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services Volunteer 
    River Assessment Program (VRAP).
•  Promote and support permanent conservation of land in the watershed, with priority on 
    shoreline properties, and strong adherence to easement restrictions and purposes.







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 202220


•  Work with watershed communities to minimize impacts of nonpoint source pollution, 
    especially stormwater.
•  Promote the responsible use of residential fertilizer.
•  Work with watershed communities to promote proper wastewater disposal and septic system 
    inspection and maintenance.
•  Advocate for the identification and protection of prime wetlands in the watershed.
•  Support identification of culvert locations and culvert repair, replacement, and maintenance.
•  Encourage watershed communities to practice DES best management practices to reduce 
    road salt application and participate in training programs for chloride application and other 
    road treatment alternatives.
•  Promote innovative septic system design that improves wastewater treatment.
•  Advocate for local land use regulations that reduce creation of impervious surface.
•  Participate in the pending instream flow study proposed by NHDES. 
•  Support sustainable practices throughout the watershed.


Priority: Preserve and enhance aquatic, riparian, and upland habitats. Activities that advance this 
priority include:


•  Advocate for proper stream channel integrity to minimize flooding and erosion.
•  Support remediation of eroded shoreland and washouts.
•  Support replacements of culverts and other impediments that restrict aquatic connectivity.


Squamscott River, Exeter, NH.







21Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


IX.	 Conclusion and Plan 
Implementation
ESRLAC is committed to partnering with landowners, Select Boards, Planning Boards, Conservation 
Commissions, and with the many organizations and agencies vested in protecting water quality, 
wildlife habitat, and cultural resources in the Exeter-Squamscott River watershed. Productive 
partnerships are the foundation for successful implementation of the priorities stated in this Plan.


For more information, please contact ESRLAC via the Rockingham Planning Commission at 
603-778-0885, email@rpc-nh.org.  


•  Advocate for land conservation projects and the protection of wildlife corridors.
•  Support public information programs about wildlife habitat.
•  Promote education, identification, and removal of invasive species along the river corridor.
•  Collaborate with NH Fish and Game when appropriate.


Priority: Promote responsible recreational use of the river and support protection of historical, 
cultural, and environmental resources in the watershed. Actions that support this priority include: 


•  Work with communities to increase public access points to the river.
•  Develop a map of public access points and public spaces.
•  Engage youth in educational and recreational activities. 
•  Advocate for responsible boating speed on the river.


Priority: Incorporate climate change science into watershed management. Activities that support 
this priority include:


•  Consult climate change data and reports when reviewing and commenting on NHDES permit 
applications.
•  Advocate for land use regulations that incorporate climate adaptation planning.Squamscott River, Exeter, NH.







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 202222


Appendices


Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory 
Committee Members Biographies


Public Recreation Sites Table


Active Dams Table


State Owned Land Table


23


26


27


32







23Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


Jessica Balukas, Brentwood Representative
Jessica has a background in ecology and natural resource economics. She works in private 
consulting, performing economic analyses for federal rulemakings and developing new valuation 
methodologies. In addition to serving as a Brentwood representative for ESRLAC, she also serves 
as an alternate on the Brentwood Conservation Commission. Her hobbies include dancing, hiking, 
biking, and reading.


Donald Clement, Exeter Representative
Don has served on ESRLAC for over twenty years, including fifteen years as the Committee Chair. 
He has also served on the Exeter River Study Committee regarding the removal of the Great 
Dam in downtown Exeter. He is a member of the Exeter Conservation Commission and a former 
Select Board member. Don was an active contributor to many studies and reports about the river, 
including Project WISE, CAPE, and the fluvial geomorphic assessment.


Ellen Douglas, Fremont Representative
Dr. Ellen Douglas is a hydrologist and engineer with broad expertise in the analysis of water-related 
issues. She earned a BS in Hydrology and an MS in Civil Engineering from the University of New 
Hampshire and a PhD in Water Resources Engineering from Tuft University in 2002. Ellen’s research 
interests include evaluating the impacts of climate change on New England hydrology, assessing 
the vulnerability of coastal communities to flooding, improving methods for sustainable water 
resource management and monitoring the performance of river restoration through dam removal. 
She has authored or co-authored over 50 peer-reviewed publications, book chapters, and technical 
reports. She was a contributing author for the 2013 U.S. National Climate Assessment and the IPCC 
Fifth and Sixth Assessment Reports. Dr. Douglas was awarded a 2013-14 Fulbright Scholarship to 
work in Australia with the CSIRO on the Water Values and Benefits project.


Ellen had dreamed of being a scientist since she read a book in fourth grade entitled “How a jet 
flies” but did not have the confidence or resources to start her college education until she was 31. 
Ellen is now a first-generation college graduate and one of only two members of a large extended 
family to earn a PhD.  Since her promotion to full professor, Ellen has put a lot of effort into 
mentoring young undergraduate and graduate women in science.  She started Growing Women in 
Science (GWIS, pronounced Gee-whiz) in spring 2018 which is still going strong!


Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee 
Members Biographies







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 202224


Nathan Merrill, Stratham Representative
Nathan Merrill is a fourth-generation dairy farmer who has lived and worked his whole life on the 
banks of the Squamscott River – along with millions of saltmarsh mosquitoes and “greenhead” 
biting flies!  Together with his family, he owns the Stuart Farm, consisting of 270 acres of land on 
the Squamscott in Stratham and 100 acres on the Lamprey River in Lee.  They milk 200 cows and 
grow forage crops on numerous other parcels of land in Stratham as well.  Sound environmental 
stewardship and natural resource conservation has been a multi-generational commitment in 
the Stuart and Merrill families.  Nathan’s other civic involvement includes longtime service on the 
Stratham Heritage Commission, and past service on the town’s land conservation bond committee, 
budget committee, and various planning committees.


Eric Turer, Brentwood Representative
I have lived on the Exeter River (above Pickpocket Dam) since 2000, with 1800 feet of river 
frontage.
I frequently canoe/kayak and swim in the river, as well as hiking/biking the trails along it’s
banks.  We have occasionally done SCUBA diving in the river to explore below the surface.  We 
keep a game camera by the river and enjoy monitoring the many species that make the protected 
land along the river corridor their home.   I revived Brentwood’s Exeter River Fall Paddle through 
town in 2018 and continue to work with our town’s Recreation Department annually to organize 
and promote the event.   We collect trash from the river annually when the town does its spring 
cleanup.  I have been trained in the VRAP program and have begun to collect sample data for the 
DES.  


I have a BS in Biology and an MBA in Health Systems Administration.  My career is in public health 
and access to health care for underserved communities. I have served on ESRLAC since 2014.  In 
2022 I was elected to represent Brentwood in the NH House of Representatives. 


Elizabeth Mello, Kingston Representative
I am a New Englander through and through. I grew up splashing in the streams and creeks, the 
lakes, and rivers, and I first learned to swim and row a boat in the ocean. I ran and played through 
hayfields, apple, orchards, cow pastures, and what seems like endless woods.  Growing up, we 
knew who was growing what vegetables, what fruit trees, and when they were ready to harvest. We 
met a lot of the neighbors in this way, I still remember an older couple well into their 80s, that had 
an amazing rhubarb patch, and we would visit them often.


As many other people do, I highly value clean air to breathe, clean water to drink, and lots of open 
space to roam and play it. This is my motivation to help conserve and preserve the environment. I 
enjoy interacting with people and outreach efforts to help connect them with the environment.







25Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


William Meserve, Newfields Representative
Inspired by the environmental movement of the 1970’s, Bill received a degree in Environmental 
Engineering and later studied Environmental Law. Over the years he has served on local planning 
boards and several environmentally related groups. He had a 40-year career as a Professional 
Engineering involved in the construction phase engineering of numerous clean water and 
wastewater projects.


Donald Picard, Sandown Representative
Don is a New Hampshire native and has lived in Sandown since 1985. He was active for many years 
on the Sandown Planning Board, serving as alternate, member, vice-chair, and chair. Don joined 
ESRLAC in 2022 to give Sandown added representation to protect the watershed for Sandown 
residents, and all member communities. 


John Roderick, -- Representative
I’m John Roderick have been a volunteer for watershed projects for the past 30 years. My interest 
in clean water relates to my passion of fishing and other natural habitats the river continues to 
support a healthy ecosystem.  


Kayak event on the Exeter River.







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 202226


Public Recreation Sites 
Town Site Name Operator Owner Type Primary Use Waterbody
Brentwood Dow Conservation 


Area Easement
Peter Dow Private Natural Area Exeter RIver


Brentwood Peabody Drive Lot Town of Brentwood Municipal Natural Area Exeter River
Brentwood Riverside Drive 


Access
Town of Brentwood Municipal Water Sports 


Area
Exeter River


Brentwood Rowell Road Private Fishing, access 
pt


Exeter RIver


Brentwood Peabody Drive Private Fishing, access 
pt


Exeter RIver


Chester Silver Sands 
Camping Area


Private Campground Wason Pond


Chester Chester Rod & Gun 
Club


Chester Rod & Gun 
Club


Private Shooting 
Preserve


Exeter Colcord Pond Park Exeter Parks & 
Recreation Dept


Municipal Natural Area Colcord 
Pond


Exeter Exeter Sportmens 
Club


Private Field Sports Exeter 
Reservoir


Exeter Stewart Waterfront 
Park


Exeter Parks & 
Recreation Dept


Municipal Water Sports 
Area


Squamscott 
River


Exeter Phillips Exeter 
Academy


Trustees of Phillips 
Academy


Private Field Sports


Exeter Exeter Area Jr. 
High School


Town of Exeter School Field Sports


Exeter Pickpocket Dam Town of Exeter Municipal Natural Area
Fremont Exeter River 


Camping Area
Priv NP Campground Exeter River


Newfields Newfields Landing Town of Newfields Municipal Boat Launch 
Ramp


Squamscott 
River


Sandown Seeley Park Town of Sandown Municipal Water Sports 
Area


Phillips 
Pond


Sandown Town Forest Town of Sandown Municipal Fishing, access 
pt


Exeter River


Stratham River Road Landing Town of Stratham Municipal Picnic Area Squamscott 
River


Stratham Chapman's 
Landing


NH Dept of Fish & 
Game


Federal Boat Launch 
Ramp


Squamscott 
River







27Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


Active Dams 
Town Dam Name River Height 


Ft
Impoundment
Acreage


Owner Location


Brentwood Exeter River Dam Exeter River 15 16.4 Brentwood 
Dam 
Ventures Llc


Mill Road


Brentwood Pickpocket Dam Exeter River 15 22 Town Of 
Exeter Public 
Works


Pickpocket 
And Cross Rd


Brentwood Three Ponds 
Campground Dam


Dudley Brook 14 3.9 Three Ponds 
Campground


Brentwood Three Ponds Farm 
Pond Dam


Dudley Brook 8 0.29 Three Ponds 
Campground


Brentwood Ice Pond Dam And 
Dike


Dudley Brook 8.4 3 Rockingham 
County 
Complex


Rockingham 
County 
Complex


Brentwood Rockingham Cnty 
Wastewtr Lagoon 
Dam


Na 13 5.24 Rockingham 
County 
Complex


Rockingham 
County 
Complex


Brentwood Lambert Fire Pond 
Dam


Unnamed 
Stream


12 0.32 Mr Norman 
Lambert


Brentwood County Courthouse 
Fire Pond Dam


Unnamed 
Stream


12 0.47 Rockingham 
County


Chester Pandolphin Dam Towle Brook 9 5 Mrs Suzanne 
Fumarola


Chester Wason Pond Dam Ray Brook 18 8.4 Town Of 
Chester


Rte 102


Chester Edwards Mill Pond 
Dam


Towle Brook 16 1.5 Town Of 
Chester


Route 102


Chester Healey Dam - Towle 
Brook


Towle Brook 13 1.5 Ms Judith 
Vance


Chester Harantis Lake Dam Beaver Brook 13.5 15.4 Harantis Lake 
Property 
Owners 
Assoc


Harantis Lake 
Rd


Chester Deep Hole Pond 
Dam


Exeter River 15 16.29 Mr Dan Gillen


Chester Chester Village 
Beaver Pond Dam


Beaver Pond 11.5 3.05 The Village 
At Chester 
Assoc







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 202228


Active Dams (Continued)


Chester Jenkins Farm Rd Det 
Pond Dam


Runoff 16.9 0 Mr Kenneth 
W Yameen


Danville Little Cub Pond Dam Colby Brook 11 13.3 Town Of 
Danville


Mill Road To 
Cub Road


Danville Diamond Pond Dam Colby Brook 12 13.18 Weston 
Realty Trust


Cub Pond Rd 
- Stay Left


Danville Iron Wheel Pond  1 
Dam


Runoff 9 2.07 Iron Wheel 
Inc


East 
Kingston


Powwow Pond Dam Powwow 
River


12 353 Nh Des Water 
Division


Route 108


East 
Kingston


Blunt Pond Dam Brickyard 
Brook


18 1.27 Mr  Mrs Matt 
Blunt


East 
Kingston


East Kingston Golf 
Course Pond Dam


Unnamed 
Stream


6.5 1.2 East Kingston 
Golf Club


East 
Kingston


Flynn Family Trust 
Basin 1 Dam


Runoff 12.7 0.06 Town Of East 
Kingston


Behind 18 
Greystone 
Road


East 
Kingston


Brentwood 
Commons Det Pond 
3 Dam


Runoff 10 0.03 Brentwood 
Commons Llc


East 
Kingston


Monaham Farm Pond 
Dam


Runoff 13.7 0.28 Mr Charles 
Walker


East 
Kingston


Bodwell Septage 
Facility Dam


Na 8.5 0.7 Biological 
Recycling 
Company Llc


79 North 
Rd, In Field 
Behind Barn


Exeter Exeter Reservoir Dam Dearborn 
Brook


15 26 Town Of 
Exeter Public 
Works


Exeter Wtp - 
Route 108


Exeter Colcord Pond Dam Little River 7 8 Town Of 
Exeter Public 
Works


Brentwood 
Road


Exeter Fort Rock Farm Pond 
Dam


Tr Norris 
Brook


8 0.63 Ms Phyllis 
Carey


Exeter Raynes Farm Pond 
Dam


Unnamed 
Stream


13 0.5 Mr Bruce 
Norton


Exeter Exeter Country Club 
Dam


Wheelwright 
Creek


11 0.38 Exeter 
Country Club


Exeter Exeter Sewage 
Holding Pond Dam


Na 10 7 Town Of 
Exeter Public 
Works


Swazey 
Parkway







29Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


Active Dams (Continued)


Exeter Exeter Sewage 
Lagoon Dam


Na 12 8.53 Town Of 
Exeter Public 
Works


Wwtp - Route 
85


Exeter Exeter Falls Estates 
Det Pond Dam


Runoff 6.5 0.87 Tfg And 
Exeter Falls 
Assoc


Exeter Stone Recreation 
Pond Dam


Unnamed 
Stream


9.8 1.68 Helen Stone


Exeter Apollo Comp Det 
Pond Dam


Runoff 6.1 1.6 Unknown


Exeter Sloans Brook Dam Sloans Brook 10 0.02 Town Of 
Exeter Public 
Works


Sloan Brook 
Drive


Exeter Farmington Estates 
Det Pond Dam


Runoff 10 0.14 Morgan Ryan 
Realty Trust


Exeter Forest Ridge Det 
Pond 51 Dam


Runoff 12 0.25 Oaklands 
Forest Ridge 
Homeowners


Exeter Dellacroce Det Pond 
Dam


Runoff 14 0 Robert 
Macomber 
And Cynthia 
Frye 
Macomber


Exeter Exeter Backwash 
Ponds Dam


Na 10 0.09 Town Of 
Exeter


Fremont Spaulding And Frost 
Co Dam


Exeter River 7 1.5 Unknown Near Candia 
Island


Fremont Scribner Road Dam Exeter River 12 16 Mr Dale 
Turner


116 Scribner 
Road


Kensington Philbrick Pond Dam Branch Great 
Brook


9 1.43 Melvin 
And Susan 
Armstrong Iii


Kensington Farm Pond Dam Unnamed 
Stream


8 0.15 Hilda And 
Wesley 
Rosencrantz


Kensington Wildlife Pond Dam Unnamed 
Stream


11 0.4 Winston 
And Beatrice 
Allen


Kensington Fire Pond Dam Unnamed 
Stream


9 0.25 Mr George 
Gavutis Jr







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 202230


Active Dams (Continued)


Kensington Dingman Dam Unnamed 
Stream


10 1.7 Mr Michael 
Dingman


Kensington Carpenter Dam Unnamed 
Stream


7.2 1 Mr Harlow 
Carpenter


Kensington Dow Pond Dam Runoff 11.5 0.6 Mr Charles 
Mabardy


South Road


Kingston Little River Dam Little River 8 0.7 Kellogg 
American Inc


Kingston Little River Dam Little River 10 2 Douglas And 
Katherine 
Houghton


51 Little River 
Road


Kingston Long Pond Dam Powwow 
River


6 100 Ler Realty Co 
Inc


Cheney Road


Kingston Cheney Mill Dam Long Pond 
Brook


11 2 Ler Realty Co 
Inc


Mill Road To 
Cheney Road


Kingston Colby Brook Dam Colby Brook 11 16.4 Berkshire  
Dominion 
Holdings Llc


Route 125 & 
Mill Road


Kingston Great Pond Dam Powwow 
River


5 204 Nh Des Water 
Division


Newfields Piscassic Ice Pond 
Dam


Piscassic 
River


12 13.7 The Estate Of 
Gilbert Lang


Nh Rte 85/
Piscassic 
Road


Newfields Newfields Sewage 
Lagoon Dam


Na 19 1.6 Newfields 
Village Sewer 
District


Raymond Onway Lake Dam Tr Lamprey 
River


8.5 194 J And D 
Realty Trust


Raymond Jones Brook I Dam Jones Brook 14 0.37 Mr Michael 
Melanson


37 Scribner 
Road


Raymond Fire Pond Dam Unnamed 
Stream


7 2.6 Walnut Hill 
Corp


Raymond Coastal Materials 
Pond Dam


Runoff 9 0.36 Coastal 
Materials Inc


Raymond Fire Pond Dam Unnamed 
Stream


7 0.14 Pawtuckaway 
Farm Owners 
Assoc


Raymond Walmart Dist Pond B 
Dam


Runoff 11 1.27 Walmart 
Stores Inc







31Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


Active Dams (Continued)


Raymond Walmart Dist Det 
Pond G Dam


Runoff 17.5 0.5 Walmart 
Stores Inc


Sandown Densen Pond Dam Exeter River 10 3.79 Mr Mark 
Traeger


Sandown Angle Pond Dam Bartlett Brook 5 160 Nh Des Water 
Division


Sandown Celeste Farm Pond 
Dam


Unnamed 
Stream


7 0.37 Mr Vincent J 
Celeste


Stratham Mill Brook Pond Dam Mill Brook 6 2 Mr Grayson 
Kirtland


Stratham Wiggin Farm Pond Unnamed 
Stream


6 0.5 Mr Robert 
Wiggins


Stratham Highwind Farm Fire 
Pond Dam


Springs 6 0.4 Fred And 
Joanne 
Schottler


55 Winnicutt 
Road


Stratham Farm Pond Dam Springs 6 0.25 Mr Bradley 
Jones


Stratham Farm Pond Dam Unnamed 
Brook


8 3 Mr Nelson 
Barker


Stratham Wildlife Pond Dam Unnamed 
Brook


10 0.25 Ms Helen 
Gallant


Stratham Winding Brook 
Condo Det Pond


Runoff 8 2.05 Bay Region 
Enterprises


Stratham Fire Pond Unnamed 
Stream


7 0.5 Jewett Hill 
Associates 
Ltd


Stratham Windlestraw Condo 
Pond


Runoff 6 1 Mr Ronald 
Maclaren


Stratham Stuart Farm Pond Unnamed 
Stream


14 0.82 Mr John C 
Merrill


Stratham Hills At Crockett Farm 
Det 1


Runoff 10.5 0.86 The Hills 
At Crockett 
Farm Condo 
Assoc


Stratham Hills At Crockett Det 
2


Runoff 8.5 0.51 The Hills 
At Crockett 
Farm Condo 
Assoc


Stratham Lindt Det Pond Dam Runoff 6.6 1.23 Lindt And 
Sprungli Usa







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 202232


Public Recreation Sites 


Town Street Address Acres
Brentwood 10 Rt 125 23.00
Brentwood Rt 101 330.00
Brentwood Pine Rd 0.26
Brentwood 154 Pine Rd 1.50
Brentwood Rt 27 3.30
Brentwood Rt 27 17.00
Brentwood Pine Rd 0.68
Brentwood Pine Rd 1.20
Brentwood Pine Rd 8.30
Brentwood Deer Hill Rd 2.10
Chester Raymond Rd 2.54
Chester 825 Raymond Rd 3.02
Danville Sandown Road 4.00
Epping Route 101 29.25
Exeter 292 Epping Rd 4.51
Exeter Pine Rd 1.76
Exeter Jubal Martin Rd 0.04
Exeter Epping Rd 1.80
Exeter Epping Rd 9.40
Exeter Epping Rd 23.00
Exeter 252 Epping Rd 0.00
Exeter 250 Epping Rd 1.30
Exeter Off Epping Rd 1.12
Exeter 260 Epping Rd 0.21
Exeter 262 Epping Rd 0.15
Exeter Off Epping Rd 0.88
Exeter 264 Epping Rd 0.08
Exeter 266 Epping Rd 0.20
Exeter 253 Epping Rd 10.29
Exeter 249 Epping Rd 0.53
Exeter 245 Epping Rd 0.14
Exeter 241 Epping Rd 0.31


Exeter 222 Epping Rd 0.54
Exeter 0 Route 101 7.10
Exeter 8 Watson Rd 1.60
Exeter 7 Watson Rd 0.50
Exeter 5 Watson Rd 1.30
Exeter 1  Watson Rd 2.23
Exeter 1 Cronin Rd 1.20
Exeter 0 Route 101 3.80
Exeter Epping Rd 23.00
Exeter Epping Rd 4.80
Exeter 216 Epping Rd 21.00
Exeter Epping Rd- Lot 03 1.09
Exeter Finch Ln 0.88
Exeter Holland Way 2.81
Exeter Beech Hill Rd 72.00
Exeter Epping Rd 9.50
Exeter 228 Epping Rd 225.05
Fremont Exeter River 2.00
Fremont Exeter River 2.00
Fremont Exeter River At 


South Rd
14.19


Fremont Main Street 0.60
Fremont Railroad Bed 37.30
Fremont Main Street To 


South Road
21.00


Hampstead Main St 13.63
Kingston 233 Rt 125 2.00
Newfields Main St 0.42
Newfields Marshland 1.50
Newfields Marshland 1.10
Newfields Marshland 0.57
Newfields 24 Rt 108 0.23
Newfields Rt 108 1.34
Newfields Rt 108 0.15







33Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


Newfields 39 Rt 108 17.00
Newfields Rt 108 1.22
Newfields 11 Old Route 108 22.28
Raymond Gillingham Road 50.00
Sandown Hampstead Rd 2.80
Sandown Hampstead Rd 5.50
Sandown Hampstead Rd 9.60
Sandown Hampstead Rd 9.60
Sandown Cranberry Meadow 


Rd
5.50


Sandown Cranberry Meadow 
Rd


0.01


Sandown Cranberry Meadow 
Rd


0.01


Sandown Odell Rd 4.10
Sandown Fremont Rd 8.26
Sandown North Rd 0.52
Stratham 88 College Road 1.18
Stratham College Road 8.47
Stratham Squamscott River 3.00
Stratham Squamscott River 4.43
Stratham College Road 4.79
Stratham 84 College Road 1.39
Stratham 80 College Road 1.72
Stratham Squamscott River 3.00
Stratham Squamscott River 2.45
Stratham Squamscott Road 57.00
Stratham Off Linda Lane 0.40
Stratham Backland 7.29
Stratham 19 Morning Star 


Drive
3.13


Stratham 21 Morning Star 
Drive


4.38


Stratham Off Depot Road 44.51


Public Recreation Sites (Continued)







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 202234


Conservation Land


State Owned Land


Public Recreation Access


Aquatic Organism Passage


Maps


35


36


37


38







35Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


Conservation Land


Sq
ua


m
sc


ot
t


R
iv


er
W


at
er


sh
ed


W
at


so
n 


Br
oo


k
W


at
er


sh
ed


Li
tt


le
 R


iv
er


W
at


er
sh


ed


Sp
ru


ce
Sw


am
p-


Li
tt


le
 R


iv
er


W
at


er
sh


ed


To
w


le
Br


oo
k-


Li
ly


 P
on


d
W


at
er


sh
ed


G
re


at
Br


oo
k-


Ex
et


er
 R


iv
er


W
at


er
sh


ed


N
ot


tin
gh


am
N


ew
in


gt
on


C
an


di
a


N
ew


m
ar


ke
t


Ep
pi


ng


Ra
ym


on
d


G
re


en
la


nd


G
re


en
la


nd


St
ra


th
am


N
ew


fie
ld


s


A
ub


ur
n


Ex
et


er
Fr


em
on


t
Br


en
tw


oo
d


C
he


st
er


N
or


th
H


am
pt


on


H
am


pt
on


H
am


pt
on


 F
al


ls
Sa


nd
ow


n
K


en
si


ng
to


n
D


an
vi


lle


K
in


gs
to


n


Ea
st


 K
in


gs
to


n


D
er


ry


H
am


ps
te


ad


Se
ab


ro
ok


So
ut


h 
H


am
pt


on


N
ew


to
n


Pl
ai


st
ow


Pe
rk


in
s


B
ro


ok


Pa
rk


m
an


Br
oo


k


Sc
am


en
Br


oo
k


Li
ttl


e
R


iv
er


Sp
rin


g
Br


o o
k


W
ils


on
Br


oo
k


H
ob


bs
Br


oo
k


R oc
ky


H
ill


Br
ook


Yo
rk


Br
oo


k


N
or


ris
Br


oo
k


Fo
rd


w
ay


Br
oo


k


D
ud


le
y


Br
oo


k


Part
in


g
Br


oo
k


D
ea


rb
or


n
Br


oo
k


Sq
ua


m
sc


ot
tR


iv
er


M
ill Brook


Br
ic


ky
ar


d
Br


oo
k


Je
w


el
l


H
ill


Br
oo


k


Wheelwright Cre
ek


G
re


at
Br


oo
k


Bloo
dyBroo


k


E x
et


er
Ri


ve
r


Li
ttl


eR
iv


er


M
ill


Br
oo


k


G
re


at
 M


ea
do


w
s


Ph
ill


ip
s


Po
nd


Sp
ru


ce
 S


w
am


p


Sh
ow


el
l


Po
nd


Th
e


G
ov


e


0
1.


5
3


4.
5


0.
75


M
ile


s
1 


in
 =


 3
,6


00
 fe


et


D
oc


um
en


t P
at


h:
 O


:\
d-


20
22


\d
-e


sr
la


c\
d-


m
ap


s\
C


on
se


rv
at


io
n_


La
nd


_r
ev


is
ed


_2
02


2.
m


xd


³
E


x
e


te
r-


S
q


u
a


m
s


c
o


tt
 


E
x


e
te


r-
S


q
u


a
m


s
c


o
tt


 
R


iv
e


r 
W


a
te


rs
h


e
d


R
iv


e
r 


W
a


te
rs


h
e


d


G
R


AN
IT


 C
on


se
rv


at
io


n 
La


nd
 2


02
1


D
es


ig
na


te
d 


Ri
ve


r T
yp


e


C
om


m
un


ity
N


at
ur


al


Ru
ra


l
Ru


ra
l-C


om
m


un
ity


St
re


am
/R


iv
er


W
at


er
bo


dy


Sw
am


p/
M


ar
sh


Pe
re


nn
ia


l S
tr


ea
m


/R
iv


er


In
te


rm
itt


en
t S


tr
ea


m
/R


iv
er


To
w


n 
Bo


un
da


ri
es


N
H


D
oT


 R
oa


ds
Ro


ad
 T


yp
e


In
te


rs
ta


te
U


S 
R


ou
te


St
at


e 
R


ou
te


Lo
ca


l


W
at


er
sh


ed
s 


(H
U


C
 1


2)
G


re
at


 B
ro


ok
-E


xe
te


r R
iv


er


Li
ttl


e 
R


iv
er


Sp
ru


ce
 S


w
am


p-
Li


ttl
e 


R
iv


er


Sq
ua


m
sc


ot
t R


iv
er


To
w


le
 B


ro
ok


-L
ily


 P
on


d
W


at
so


n 
Br


oo
k


C
o


n
s


e
rv


a
ti


o
n


 L
a


n
d


C
o


n
s


e
rv


a
ti


o
n


 L
a


n
d


To
ta


l A
cr


es
 in


 W
at


er
sh


ed
 =


 8
1,


72
6.


7


2
0


2
2


2
0


2
2


C
on


se
rv


at
io


n 
La


nd
Ex


et
er


-S
qu


am
sc


ot
t R


iv
er


 L
oc


al
 A


dv
is


or
y 


C
om


m
itt


ee







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 202236


State Owned Land


Sq
ua


m
sc


ot
t


R
iv


er
W


at
er


sh
ed


W
at


so
n 


Br
oo


k
W


at
er


sh
ed


Li
tt


le
 R


iv
er


W
at


er
sh


ed


Sp
ru


ce
Sw


am
p-


Li
tt


le
 R


iv
er


W
at


er
sh


ed


To
w


le
Br


oo
k-


Li
ly


 P
on


d
W


at
er


sh
ed


G
re


at
Br


oo
k-


Ex
et


er
 R


iv
er


W
at


er
sh


ed


N
ot


tin
gh


am
N


ew
in


gt
on


C
an


di
a


N
ew


m
ar


ke
t


Ep
pi


ng


Ra
ym


on
d


G
re


en
la


nd


G
re


en
la


nd


G
re


en
la


nd


St
ra


th
am


N
ew


fie
ld


s


A
ub


ur
n


Ex
et


er
Fr


em
on


t
Br


en
tw


oo
d


C
he


st
er


N
or


th
H


am
pt


on


H
am


pt
on


H
am


pt
on


 F
al


ls
Sa


nd
ow


n
K


en
si


ng
to


n
D


an
vi


lle


K
in


gs
to


n


Ea
st


 K
in


gs
to


n


D
er


ry


H
am


ps
te


ad


Se
ab


ro
ok


So
ut


h 
H


am
pt


on


N
ew


to
n


Pl
ai


st
ow


Pe
rk


in
s


B
ro


ok


Pa
rk


m
an


Br
oo


k


Sc
am


en
Br


oo
k


Li
ttl


e
R


iv
er


Sp
rin


g
Br


oo
k


W
ils


on
Br


oo
k


H
ob


bs
Br


oo
k


R oc
ky


H
ill


Br
ook


Yo
r k


Br
oo


k


N
or


ris
Br


oo
k


Fo
rd


w
ay


Br
oo


k


D
ud


le
y


Br
oo


k


Pa
rti


ng


Br
oo


k


D
ea


rb
or


n
Br


oo
k


Sq
ua


m
sc


ot
tR


iv
er


M
ill Brook


Br
ic


ky
ar


d
Br


oo
k


Je
w


el
l


H
ill


Br
oo


k


Wheelwri ght Cre
ek


G
re


at
Br


oo
k


Bloo
dyBroo


k


Ex
et


er
Ri


ve
r


Li
ttl


e
Ri


ve
r


M
ill


Br
oo


k


G
re


at
 M


ea
do


w
s


Ph
ill


ip
s


Po
nd


Sp
ru


ce
 S


w
am


p


Sh
ow


el
l


Po
nd


Th
e


G
ov


e


0
1.


5
3


4.
5


0.
75


M
ile


s
1 


in
 =


 3
,6


00
 fe


et


D
oc


um
en


t P
at


h:
 O


:\
d-


20
22


\d
-e


sr
la


c\
d-


m
ap


s\
St


at
e_


La
nd


_r
ev


is
ed


_2
02


2.
m


xd


³
E


x
e


te
r-


S
q


u
a


m
s


c
o


tt
 


E
x


e
te


r-
S


q
u


a
m


s
c


o
tt


 
R


iv
e


r 
W


a
te


rs
h


e
d


R
iv


e
r 


W
a


te
rs


h
e


d


St
at


e-
ow


ne
d 


Pa
rc


el
s


D
es


ig
na


te
d 


Ri
ve


r T
yp


e
C


om
m


un
ity


N
at


ur
al


Ru
ra


l
Ru


ra
l-C


om
m


un
ity


St
re


am
/R


iv
er


W
at


er
bo


dy
Sw


am
p/


M
ar


sh
Pe


re
nn


ia
l S


tr
ea


m
/R


iv
er


In
te


rm
itt


en
t S


tr
ea


m
/R


iv
er


To
w


n 
Bo


un
da


ri
es


N
H


D
oT


 R
oa


ds
Ro


ad
 T


yp
e


In
te


rs
ta


te
U


S 
R


ou
te


St
at


e 
R


ou
te


Lo
ca


l


W
at


er
sh


ed
s 


(H
U


C
 1


2)
G


re
at


 B
ro


ok
-E


xe
te


r R
iv


er
Li


ttl
e 


R
iv


er
Sp


ru
ce


 S
w


am
p-


Li
ttl


e 
R


iv
er


Sq
ua


m
sc


ot
t R


iv
er


To
w


le
 B


ro
ok


-L
ily


 P
on


d
W


at
so


n 
Br


oo
k


B
a


s
e


 M
a


p
B


a
s


e
 M


a
p


To
ta


l A
cr


es
 in


 W
at


er
sh


ed
 =


 8
1,


72
6.


7


2
0


2
2


2
0


2
2


St
at


e 
O


w
ne


d 
La


nd
Ex


et
er


-S
qu


am
sc


ot
t R


iv
er


 L
oc


al
 A


dv
is


or
y 


C
om


m
itt


ee







37Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022


Public Recreation Access


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XYXY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY
XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY
XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY
XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XYXYXYXY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY XY


XY
XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY
XY


XY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XYXY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XYXY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XYXY


XY


XYXYXYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


AÞ
Aó


Cî


Cß Cî


AØ


AÖ


AÖ


Cß


AØ


AÖ


AØ


Ab


AÖ?È?Ë


?́


AÍ


Ac


!"c$


Ig


?t


?½
?Ê


AÍ


AØ


Aó


Aí


Ig


AÍ


AÞ


?É


Aó


AÖ


AÖ
AÞ


Aó


AÞ


Aí


Cß


?́


AÍ


AØ


?́


Cß


AÞ


?É


?½


AÞ


Cî


Ig


AÍ


Ig


Ab


AÞ
Ac


Ig


Ig


!"c$


AÍ


!"c$


!"c$


?t


AÞ


Af


AÖAÞ


Cß


AÍ


Aó


Cß


?́


Cî


AÍ


AÖ


AÖ


AÖ


?́


?½


AØAØ


Ig


?́
Ig


AØ


AØ
?É


?É
?Ê


?Ê
! . ! .


! .
! .


! .
! .


! .
! .


! .
! .


! .
! .


! .
! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


Ex
et


er
/S


qu
am


sc
ot


t
R


iv
er


s 
W


at
er


sh
ed


(H
U


C 
10


)


Sq
ua


m
sc


ot
t


R
iv


er
W


at
er


sh
ed


W
at


so
n 


Br
oo


k
W


at
er


sh
ed


Li
tt


le
 R


iv
er


W
at


er
sh


ed


Sp
ru


ce
Sw


am
p-


Li
tt


le
 R


iv
er


W
at


er
sh


ed


To
w


le
Br


oo
k-


Li
ly


 P
on


d
W


at
er


sh
ed


G
re


at
Br


oo
k-


Ex
et


er
 R


iv
er


W
at


er
sh


ed


St
ra


th
am


Ex
et


er
Fr


em
on


t
Br


en
tw


oo
d


C
he


st
er


Sa
nd


ow
n


K
en


si
ng


to
n


Ea
st


 K
in


gs
to


n


H
am


ps
te


ad


G
re


at
 M


ea
do


w
s


Ph
ill


ip
s


Po
nd


Sp
ru


ce
 S


w
am


p


Sh
ow


el
l


Po
nd


Th
e


G
ov


e


0
1.


5
3


4.
5


0.
75


M
ile


s


1 
in


 =
 3


,6
00


 fe
et


D
oc


um
en


t P
at


h:
 O


:\
d-


20
22


\d
-e


sr
la


c\
d-


m
ap


s\
Ba


se
_R


ev
is


ed
_2


02
2\


ba
se


_r
ev


is
ed


_2
02


2.
m


xd


³
E


x
e


te
r-


S
q


u
a


m
s


c
o


tt
 


E
x


e
te


r-
S


q
u


a
m


s
c


o
tt


 
R


iv
e


r 
W


a
te


rs
h


e
d


R
iv


e
r 


W
a


te
rs


h
e


d


! .
Re


c 
A


cc
es


s 
Po


in
ts


D
es


ig
na


te
d 


R
iv


er
 2


4k
Cl


as
s


C
om


m
un


ity


Ru
ra


l
D


es
ig


na
te


d 
R


iv
er


 T
id


al
 Z


on
e


St
re


am
/R


iv
er


W
at


er
bo


dy
Sw


am
p/


M
ar


sh


Pe
re


nn
ia


l S
tr


ea
m


/R
iv


er
In


te
rm


itt
en


t S
tr


ea
m


/R
iv


er
To


w
n 


Bo
un


da
rie


s


N
H


D
oT


 R
oa


ds
 2


02
1


R
oa


d 
Ty


pe
U


S 
Ro


ut
e


St
at


e 
R


ou
te


Lo
ca


l


W
at


er
sh


ed
s 


(H
U


C
 1


2)
G


re
at


 B
ro


ok
-E


xe
te


r R
iv


er
Li


ttl
e 


Ri
ve


r


Sp
ru


ce
 S


w
am


p-
Li


ttl
e 


Ri
ve


r
Sq


ua
m


sc
ot


t R
iv


er
To


w
le


 B
ro


ok
-L


ily
 P


on
d


W
at


so
n 


Br
oo


k


B
a


s
e


 M
a


p
B


a
s


e
 M


a
p


To
ta


l A
cr


es
 in


 W
at


er
sh


ed
 =


 8
1,


72
6.


7


2
0


2
2


2
0


2
2


Pu
bl


ic
 R


ec
re


at
io


n 
A


cc
es


s
Ex


et
er


-S
qu


am
sc


ot
t R


iv
er


 L
oc


al
 A


dv
is


or
y 


C
om


m
itt


ee







Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 202238


Aquatic Organism Passage


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XYXY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY
XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY
XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY
XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XYXYXYXY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY XY


XY
XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY
XY


XY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XYXY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XYXY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XYXY


XY


XYXYXYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XYXY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


XY


AÞ
Aó


Cî


Cß Cî


AØ


AÖ


AÖ


Cß


AØ


AÖ


AØ


Ab


AÖ?È?Ë


?́


AÍ


Ac


!"c$


Ig


?t


?½
?Ê


AÍ


AØ


Aó


Aí


Ig


AÍ


AÞ


?É


Aó


AÖ


AÖ
AÞ


Aó


AÞ


Aí


Cß


?́


AÍ


AØ


?́


Cß


AÞ


?É


?½


AÞ


Cî


Ig


AÍ


Ig


Ab


AÞ
Ac


Ig


Ig


!"c$


AÍ


!"c$


!"c$


?t


AÞ


Af


AÖAÞ


Cß


AÍ


Aó


Cß


?́


Cî


AÍ


AÖ


AÖ


AÖ


?́


?½


AØAØ


Ig


?́
Ig


AØ


AØ
?É


?É
?Ê


?Ê


! .


! .


! .
j! .! .


! .
! .


! .


! . ! .


! .


j
! .
! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! . ! .


! .
! .


! .


! .


! .
! .


! .


! .


! . ! .


! .


! .


! .! .


j


j


! .


! .


! .


j


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .
! .


! .
! .


j


! .
! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .
! .


! .! .


! . ! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .
! .


! .


! .


! .


! .
! . ! .


! .


! .


! .


j


! .


! .


! .


j


! .


! . ! .
! .


! .! .
j


! .


! .


! .
! .
! .


! .


! .


! .


! .
! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .
j! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .! .


! .


! .
j


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! . ! .


! .! .


! .


! . ! .


! .! .


! .


j


! .


! .! .


j


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .! .


! .


j


! .
! .


! .
j
! .


! .
! .


! .
! .
! .


! .
! .


! .


! .


! .


! .! .! .
! .


! . ! . ! .
j


j


! .


! .


! . ! .
! .


! .


! .


! .
! .


! .


! .


! .
! .


! .


! .! .
! .


! .


! .


! .
! .


j
! .


! .


! .
! .


! .
! .


! .
! .


! .
! .! .


! .
! .


! .
! .


! . ! .


! .


! .


! .


! .
j


! .


! .
! .! .


! .


! .! .


! . ! . ! . ! .
! .


! .


! .


! .


! .
! . ! .


! .


! .


j


! .


! .
! .


! .


j! .
! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .


! .
! .


! .
! .


! . ! .


! .


! .
! .


! .
! .


! .


! .
! .


! . ! . ! .


j


! .
! .


! .
! .


! .
j


! .


j
j


! .
! .


! .


! . ! . ! .


! .! . ! . j


! .! .
! .


! .j
! .


! .


j


! . ! .


! .


! .


! .


! .
! .


! . ! .
! .


! .


! .


! .


! .
! .


! .


! .


! .
! .


! .
! .


! .
! .


! .
! .


! .


! .


j
j j


! .


! .


j ! . ! . ! .


! .


! .
! .


! .


j


! .
! .jj


! .


jj


j
j


! .


! .


! .


j


jj
! .jj! .j


jjjjj


j
! .


! . ! .
! .


! .! .


! . ! .! . ! .


! .
! .


j


! .
! .


Ex
et


er
/S


qu
am


sc
ot


t
R


iv
er


s 
W


at
er


sh
ed


(H
U


C 
10


)


Sq
ua


m
sc


ot
t


R
iv


er
W


at
er


sh
ed


W
at


so
n 


Br
oo


k
W


at
er


sh
ed


Li
tt


le
 R


iv
er


W
at


er
sh


ed


Sp
ru


ce
Sw


am
p-


Li
tt


le
 R


iv
er


W
at


er
sh


ed


To
w


le
Br


oo
k-


Li
ly


 P
on


d
W


at
er


sh
ed


G
re


at
Br


oo
k-


Ex
et


er
 R


iv
er


W
at


er
sh


ed


St
ra


th
am


Ex
et


er
Fr


em
on


t
Br


en
tw


oo
d


C
he


st
er


Sa
nd


ow
n


K
en


si
ng


to
n


Ea
st


 K
in


gs
to


n


H
am


ps
te


ad


G
re


at
 M


ea
do


w
s


Ph
ill


ip
s


Po
nd


Sp
ru


ce
 S


w
am


p


Sh
ow


el
l


Po
nd


Th
e


G
ov


e


0
1.


5
3


4.
5


0.
75


M
ile


s


1 
in


 =
 3


,6
00


 fe
et


D
oc


um
en


t P
at


h:
 O


:\
d-


20
22


\d
-e


sr
la


c\
d-


m
ap


s\
A


qu
at


ic
_C


on
ne


ct
iv


it
y.


m
xd


³
E


x
e


te
r-


S
q


u
a


m
s


c
o


tt
 


E
x


e
te


r-
S


q
u


a
m


s
c


o
tt


 
R


iv
e


r 
W


a
te


rs
h


e
d


R
iv


e
r 


W
a


te
rs


h
e


d


D
es


ig
na


te
d 


R
iv


er
 2


4k
Cl


as
s


C
om


m
un


ity
Ru


ra
l


D
es


ig
na


te
d 


R
iv


er
 T


id
al


 Z
on


e


St
re


am
/R


iv
er


W
at


er
bo


dy


Sw
am


p/
M


ar
sh


Pe
re


nn
ia


l S
tr


ea
m


/R
iv


er


In
te


rm
itt


en
t S


tr
ea


m
/R


iv
er


To
w


n 
Bo


un
da


rie
s


N
H


D
oT


 R
oa


ds
 2


02
1


R
oa


d 
Ty


pe
U


S 
Ro


ut
e


St
at


e 
R


ou
te


Lo
ca


l


W
at


er
sh


ed
s 


(H
U


C
 1


2)
G


re
at


 B
ro


ok
-E


xe
te


r R
iv


er


Li
ttl


e 
Ri


ve
r


Sp
ru


ce
 S


w
am


p-
Li


ttl
e 


Ri
ve


r


Sq
ua


m
sc


ot
t R


iv
er


To
w


le
 B


ro
ok


-L
ily


 P
on


d


W
at


so
n 


Br
oo


k


A
q


u
a


ti
c


 C
o


n
n


e
c


ti
v


it
y


A
q


u
a


ti
c


 C
o


n
n


e
c


ti
v


it
y


To
ta


l A
cr


es
 in


 W
at


er
sh


ed
 =


 8
1,


72
6.


7


2
0


2
2


2
0


2
2


A
qu


at
ic


 C
on


ne
ct


iv
ity


Ex
et


er
-S


qu
am


sc
ot


t R
iv


er
 L


oc
al


 A
dv


is
or


y 
C


om
m


itt
ee


A
qu


at
ic


 C
on


ne
ct


iv
ity


 S
co


re
! .


Fu
ll 


Pa
ss


ag
e 


(6
5)


! .
Pa


ss
ag


e 
on


ly
 fo


r a
du


lt 
tr


ou
t (


0)


! .
Re


du
ce


d 
Pa


ss
ag


e 
(1


72
)


! .
N


o 
Pa


ss
ag


e 
(8


9)


j
U


na
bl


e 
to


 s
co


re
 (5


2)







39Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management Plan - Update 2022








Exeter-Squamscott River 
Watershed Management Plan 
2022 - 2032 | Executive Summary


The Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management 
Plan Update 2022 (Plan) was developed by the Exeter-
Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee (ESRLAC) with 
assistance from the Rockingham Planning Commission 
with funds provided by the New Hampshire Department of 
Environmental Services. The Plan describes the priorities for 
ESRLAC in the coming decade and provides an overview 
of land use and natural resources in twelve watershed communities – Chester, Sandown, Danville, Raymond, 
Fremont, Kingston, Brentwood, East Kingston, Kensington, Exeter, Newfields, and Stratham. Since the river’s 
enrollment in the NH Rivers Management and Protection Program in 1996, ESRLAC has acted as a volunteer 
steward of the river, working with landowners, developers, and regulatory agencies to protect the river from the 
impacts of development and a changing climate. ESRLAC is committed to partnering with landowners, Select 
Boards, Planning Boards, Conservation Commissions, and with the many organizations and agencies vested 
in protecting water quality, wildlife habitat, and cultural resources in the Exeter-Squamscott River watershed. 
Productive partnerships are the foundation for successful implementation of the priorities stated in this Plan.


Mission of the Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee
•  Improve water quality to meet federal and state standards.
•  Advocate for preservation and enhancement of aquatic, riparian, and upland habitats.
•  Promote responsible recreational use of the river and disseminate information about historical, cultural, and 
    environmental resources in the watershed.
•  Incorporate climate change science into ESRLAC’s work.
•  Highlight the priorities of ESRLAC and promote best management practices within the watershed.
•  Encourage the adoption and enforcement of model land use regulations to protect water quality.


Issues of Concern for the Exeter-Squamscott River
•  Manage stormwater and minimize impervious surfaces to protect water quality.
•  Reduce nutrient pollution from lawn fertilizer, septic systems, and wastewater treatment plants.
•  Incorporate the projected impacts of climate change into the design of land development proposals.


Priorities of the Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee
ESRLAC supports the sustainable management of the Exeter-Squamscott River watershed. ESRLAC defines 
sustainable watershed management as actions that restore natural hydrologic variability and riverine and 
riparian habitats, maintain acceptable water quality and quantity, and advance land stewardship and low 
impact development practices. ESRLAC will work with landowners, towns, public agencies, organizations, and 
businesses that advance the following priorities and activities: 


Priority: Improve water quality and water quantity to meet federal and state standards. Activities that advance 
this priority include: 
•  Support traditional land uses and stewardship such as farming and forestry following Best Management 
    Practices.


Table 4
Conservation Land in the Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory 
Committee Municipalities
Source: GRANIT, 2012 and 2021







•  Promote participation in the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services Volunteer River 
    Assessment Program (VRAP).
•  Promote and support permanent conservation of land in the watershed, with priority on shoreline 
    properties, and strong adherence to easement restrictions and purposes.
•  Work with watershed communities to minimize impacts of nonpoint source pollution, especially stormwater.
•  Promote the responsible use of residential fertilizer.
•  Work with watershed communities to promote proper wastewater disposal and septic system inspection 
    and maintenance.
•  Advocate for the identification and protection of prime wetlands in the watershed.
•  Support identification of culvert locations and culvert repair, replacement, and maintenance.
•  Encourage watershed communities to practice DES best management practices to reduce road salt 
    application and participate in training programs for chloride application and other road treatment 
    alternatives.
•  Promote innovative septic system design that improves wastewater treatment.
•  Advocate for local land use regulations that reduce creation of impervious surface.
•  Participate in the pending instream flow study proposed by NHDES. 
•  Support sustainable practices throughout the watershed.


Priority: Preserve and enhance aquatic, riparian, and upland habitats. Activities that advance this priority 
include:
•  Advocate for proper stream channel integrity to minimize flooding and erosion.
•  Support remediation of eroded shoreland and washouts.
•  Support replacements of culverts and other impediments that restrict aquatic connectivity.
•  Advocate for land conservation projects and the protection of wildlife corridors.
•  Support public information programs about wildlife habitat.
•  Promote education, identification, and removal of invasive species along the river corridor.
•  Collaborate with NH Fish and Game when appropriate.


Priority: Promote responsible recreational use of the river and support protection of historical, cultural, and 
environmental resources in the watershed. Actions that support this priority include: 
•  Work with communities to increase public access points to the river.
•  Develop a map of public access points and public spaces.
•  Engage youth in educational and recreational activities. 
•  Advocate for responsible boating speed on the river.


Priority: Incorporate climate change science into watershed management. Activities that support this priority 
include:
•  Consult climate change data and reports when reviewing and commenting on NHDES permit applications.
•  Advocate for land use regulations that incorporate climate adaptation planning.


Information on ESRLAC is available at 
www.exeterriver.org or by contacting ESRLAC 
via the Rockingham Planning Commission at 
603-778-0885, email@rpc-nh.org.  



http://www.exeterriver.org

mailto:email%40rpc-nh.org?subject=





 

From: Theresa Walker <theresawalker@comcast.net> 
Sent: Monday, April 10, 2023 9:51 AM
To: 'Alexa Brown' <cosmogirl1496@gmail.com>; 'Bill Meserve' <meservew@gmail.com>; 'Don
Clement' <dclement43@comcast.net>; 'Don Picard' <picarddj@comcast.net>; 'Elizabeth Mello'
<emello@alumni.unh.edu>; 'Ellen Douglas' <h2orat01@gmail.com>; 'Eric Bahr'
<ejbahr@comcast.net>; 'Eric Turer' <eric.turer@gmail.com>; 'Jessica Balukas'
<jessica.balukas@gmail.com>; 'John Roderick' <rodericklaker@aol.com>; 'Nate Merrill'
<njmerrill@comcast.net>; 'Theresa Walker' <theresawalker@comcast.net>
Subject: ESRLAC Management Plan and Executive Summary
 
ESRLAC – Attached, please find the Management Plan and Executive Summary with the edits made
at the last meeting. Feel free to share these documents; I’ll get them posted to the ESRLAC website.
Thank you, Theresa

mailto:theresawalker@comcast.net
mailto:cosmogirl1496@gmail.com
mailto:meservew@gmail.com
mailto:dclement43@comcast.net
mailto:picarddj@comcast.net
mailto:emello@alumni.unh.edu
mailto:h2orat01@gmail.com
mailto:ejbahr@comcast.net
mailto:eric.turer@gmail.com
mailto:jessica.balukas@gmail.com
mailto:rodericklaker@aol.com
mailto:njmerrill@comcast.net
mailto:theresawalker@comcast.net


Exeter-Squamscott River 
Watershed Management Plan 
2022 - 2032 | Executive Summary

The Exeter-Squamscott River Watershed Management 
Plan Update 2022 (Plan) was developed by the Exeter-
Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee (ESRLAC) with 
assistance from the Rockingham Planning Commission 
with funds provided by the New Hampshire Department of 
Environmental Services. The Plan describes the priorities for 
ESRLAC in the coming decade and provides an overview 
of land use and natural resources in twelve watershed communities – Chester, Sandown, Danville, Raymond, 
Fremont, Kingston, Brentwood, East Kingston, Kensington, Exeter, Newfields, and Stratham. Since the river’s 
enrollment in the NH Rivers Management and Protection Program in 1996, ESRLAC has acted as a volunteer 
steward of the river, working with landowners, developers, and regulatory agencies to protect the river from the 
impacts of development and a changing climate. ESRLAC is committed to partnering with landowners, Select 
Boards, Planning Boards, Conservation Commissions, and with the many organizations and agencies vested 
in protecting water quality, wildlife habitat, and cultural resources in the Exeter-Squamscott River watershed. 
Productive partnerships are the foundation for successful implementation of the priorities stated in this Plan.

Mission of the Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee
•  Improve water quality to meet federal and state standards.
•  Advocate for preservation and enhancement of aquatic, riparian, and upland habitats.
•  Promote responsible recreational use of the river and disseminate information about historical, cultural, and 
    environmental resources in the watershed.
•  Incorporate climate change science into ESRLAC’s work.
•  Highlight the priorities of ESRLAC and promote best management practices within the watershed.
•  Encourage the adoption and enforcement of model land use regulations to protect water quality.

Issues of Concern for the Exeter-Squamscott River
•  Manage stormwater and minimize impervious surfaces to protect water quality.
•  Reduce nutrient pollution from lawn fertilizer, septic systems, and wastewater treatment plants.
•  Incorporate the projected impacts of climate change into the design of land development proposals.

Priorities of the Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory Committee
ESRLAC supports the sustainable management of the Exeter-Squamscott River watershed. ESRLAC defines 
sustainable watershed management as actions that restore natural hydrologic variability and riverine and 
riparian habitats, maintain acceptable water quality and quantity, and advance land stewardship and low 
impact development practices. ESRLAC will work with landowners, towns, public agencies, organizations, and 
businesses that advance the following priorities and activities: 

Priority: Improve water quality and water quantity to meet federal and state standards. Activities that advance 
this priority include: 
•  Support traditional land uses and stewardship such as farming and forestry following Best Management 
    Practices.

Table 4
Conservation Land in the Exeter-Squamscott River Local Advisory 
Committee Municipalities
Source: GRANIT, 2012 and 2021



•  Promote participation in the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services Volunteer River 
    Assessment Program (VRAP).
•  Promote and support permanent conservation of land in the watershed, with priority on shoreline 
    properties, and strong adherence to easement restrictions and purposes.
•  Work with watershed communities to minimize impacts of nonpoint source pollution, especially stormwater.
•  Promote the responsible use of residential fertilizer.
•  Work with watershed communities to promote proper wastewater disposal and septic system inspection 
    and maintenance.
•  Advocate for the identification and protection of prime wetlands in the watershed.
•  Support identification of culvert locations and culvert repair, replacement, and maintenance.
•  Encourage watershed communities to practice DES best management practices to reduce road salt 
    application and participate in training programs for chloride application and other road treatment 
    alternatives.
•  Promote innovative septic system design that improves wastewater treatment.
•  Advocate for local land use regulations that reduce creation of impervious surface.
•  Participate in the pending instream flow study proposed by NHDES. 
•  Support sustainable practices throughout the watershed.

Priority: Preserve and enhance aquatic, riparian, and upland habitats. Activities that advance this priority 
include:
•  Advocate for proper stream channel integrity to minimize flooding and erosion.
•  Support remediation of eroded shoreland and washouts.
•  Support replacements of culverts and other impediments that restrict aquatic connectivity.
•  Advocate for land conservation projects and the protection of wildlife corridors.
•  Support public information programs about wildlife habitat.
•  Promote education, identification, and removal of invasive species along the river corridor.
•  Collaborate with NH Fish and Game when appropriate.

Priority: Promote responsible recreational use of the river and support protection of historical, cultural, and 
environmental resources in the watershed. Actions that support this priority include: 
•  Work with communities to increase public access points to the river.
•  Develop a map of public access points and public spaces.
•  Engage youth in educational and recreational activities. 
•  Advocate for responsible boating speed on the river.

Priority: Incorporate climate change science into watershed management. Activities that support this priority 
include:
•  Consult climate change data and reports when reviewing and commenting on NHDES permit applications.
•  Advocate for land use regulations that incorporate climate adaptation planning.

Information on ESRLAC is available at 
www.exeterriver.org or by contacting ESRLAC 
via the Rockingham Planning Commission at 
603-778-0885, email@rpc-nh.org.  

http://www.exeterriver.org
mailto:email%40rpc-nh.org?subject=




 

TOWN OF STRATHAM 
Incorporated 1716 

10 Bunker Hill Avenue • Stratham, NH 03885 
Voice (603) 772-7391 • Fax (603) 775-0517 • www.strathamnh.gov 

 
COMMITTEE APPOINTMENT APPLICATION 

 

  Heritage Commission   Zoning Board of Adjustment 

  Planning Board   Public Works Commission 

  Conservation Commission   Recreation Commission 

  Stratham Summerfest Committee   Energy Commission 

  Exeter Squamscott River Advisory Committee   Rockingham Planning Commission 

  Pedestrian & Cyclist Advocacy Committee   ____ Other ________________________ 

____ Trail Management Advisory Committee 
 
 
 

Applicant Name (print) Phone # 
 
 

Address Email 
 
 

Registered Voter of Stratham?  YES   NO Number of Years as a Resident   
 
 

I would like to be considered by the Select Board for appointment to a town/board/commission/ 
committee indicated above because: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

I feel the following experience and background qualifies me for this position: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signature of Applicant Date 

http://www.strathamnh.gov/




April 5, 2023

To: David Moore, Stratham Town Administrator

From: Susan Wilbur, Chair, Board of Trustees, Wiggin Memorial Library

In accordance with NH RSA Section 202-A:10 Library Trustees and as 
provided in RSA 669:75, the Wiggin Memorial Library Board of Trustees 
recommends to the Stratham Select Board that Kathy Bower and Michele 
McCann-Corti be appointed as Alternate Trustees for the Library Board of 
Trustees for a term of one year expiring at Town Meeting 2024.

Thank you.


	SB Memo 4 17 2023
	sb AGENDA 4 17 2023
	4 3 3023 sb minutes dm edits
	2023 March Budget Report
	2023 March Rev Report
	NLW-2023-Proclamation (Final)
	National Library Week 2023 Proclamation

	Correspondence-3-27-23 NH Div Historic Resources - Scammon Farm District
	Correspondence-Comcast ltr 4 3 2023
	Stratham Select Board to School District Chair - re Elections April 5 2023
	Legal Notice - Transfer Station Fees
	CPCNH - By-law excerpt
	PD Golf Fund Request
	Memorandum Requesting Release of CIP Funds
	Report_from_Inclusion_Solutions_LLC_Booths
	TASC meeting
	ESRLAC Merrill email - FW_ ESRLAC Management Plan and Executive Summary
	ESRLAC_2022ManagementPlan_Executive Summary
	Rebecca Waltz Rec Comm
	Denton Committee Application
	Jock Dyer - TMAC application
	Alternate Trustee Appointments 2023
	ADP9CA6.tmp
	National Library Week 2023 Proclamation


	Heritage Commission: 
	Zoning Board of Adjustment: 
	Planning Board: 
	Public Works Commission: 
	Conservation Commission: 
	Recreation Commission: 
	Stratham Summerfest Committee: 
	Energy Commission: 
	Exeter Squamscott River Advisory Committee: 
	Rockingham Planning Commission: 
	Pedestrian  Cyclist Advocacy Committee: 
	Other: x
	undefined: Age Friendly Comm.
	Trail Management Advisory Committee: 
	Applicant Name print: Geri Lakey Denton
	Phone: 603-969-7812
	Address: 6 Beech Ct., Stratham
	Email: glakey@comcast.net
	YES: x
	NO: 
	Number of Years as a Resident: 12
	committee indicated above because 1: I have an interest in improving communications in our town 
	committee indicated above because 2: so we can ensure that all the resources, information, and activities are communicated
	committee indicated above because 3: effectively and thoroughly to all members of our community. 
	committee indicated above because 4: 
	I feel the following experience and background qualifies me for this position 1: I have a graduate degree in mass communication and an undergraduate degree in English.
	I feel the following experience and background qualifies me for this position 2: I have a great deal of professional and volunteer experience in marketing, 
	I feel the following experience and background qualifies me for this position 3: public relations and recruiting.
	I feel the following experience and background qualifies me for this position 4: 
	Date: 4/11/23
	Signature1_es_:signer:signature: Geri L. Denton


